

HOW CAN AFRICA MAKE THE MOST OF ITS TRANSITION MINERALS?

A pledge for enhancing value addition for development and prosperity September 2024



Just Minerals Africa

Acknowledgements

Publish What You Pay (PWYP) would like to thank the main author of this research, William D. Davis, as well as the reviewers: Elvis Avenyo (University of Johannesburg), Charles G. Ofori (Africa Centre for Energy Policy), Stephanie Ngo Pouhe and Caroline Avan (Business & Human Rights Resource Centre), Eric Ngang, Alex Kopp and Colin Robertson (Global Witness), Davie Malungisa (Southern Africa Resource Watch), Isaac Agyiri and Nelly Busingye (Tax Justice Network Africa), Emmanuel Umpula (AFREWATCH), Elie Kabore (PWYP Burkina Faso), Silas Olan'g, Robert Pitman and Thomas Scurfield (Natural Resource Governance Institute), Alejandro Gonzalez (SOMO), Gilbert Jemwa.

We are also grateful to Global Witness and the Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (NORAD) for their support.

Table of Contents

| Main findings | 3 |
|--|----|
| 1. Introduction | 5 |
| 1.1 A boom in demand for transition minerals is coming | 5 |
| 1.2 Different approaches needed to make the most of the boom | 7 |
| 2. Africa's production of transition minerals | 11 |
| 2.1 Africa's top producers of transition minerals | 11 |
| 2.2 Africa's key markets for transition minerals | 13 |
| 2.3 Key market trends | 15 |
| 3. Africa's participation in transition mineral value chains | 17 |
| 3.1 China as the main exportation hub for African transition minerals | 18 |
| 3.2 Africa's marginal role further down the value chain | 24 |
| 4. Making the most of Africa's transition minerals | 28 |
| 4.1. Adding value to Africa's transition minerals | 29 |
| 4.2 Entering new segments of the energy transition value chain | 31 |
| 5. How can Africa seize these opportunities? | 34 |
| 5.1 Industrial policies | 34 |
| 5.2 Regional economic integration and preferential trade agreements | 34 |
| 5.3 Transparency and accountability of government action | 35 |
| 5.4 Strong safeguards against corruption, human rights abuses and environmental degradation | 37 |
| 5.5 Legal and policy frameworks | 38 |
| 5.6 Increasing local content | 38 |
| 6. What role should development partners play? | 42 |
| 7. Conclusions and Recommendations | 43 |
| Annexes | 47 |
| Annex I – commodity codes used for transition mineral exports | 47 |
| Annex II: Methodology used to estimate economic benefits of adding value to a greater share of Africa's energy transition minerals | 54 |
| o | |

Main findings

- 1. Expanding existing value addition in Africa could bring \$32 billion in annual exports for the entire continent. This could add up to \$24 bn to Africa's GDP and could create 2.3 million jobs.
- 2. Cooperation amongst African mineral rich countries could significantly expand existing value chains on the continent, potentially generating \$32 billion annually in processed and transformed exports. This growth could contribute up to \$24 billion to Africa's GDP and create 2.3 million new jobs.
- 3. The vast majority of Africa's transition minerals are destined for manufacturing industries outside the continent. Only 2% of the continent's exports of energy transition minerals are destined for other African countries. Africa is currently stuck at the bottom of energy transition value chains while most of the profits are made elsewhere in the world.
- 4. Though some countries in Africa do process transition minerals to some extent, the continent remains almost completely excluded from downstream and often more lucrative segments of value chains for these minerals, such as design, manufacturing, marketing and sales. This represents a major problem for the continent but African governments have the power to change the game.
- 5. African countries can make the most of their transition minerals by adding value to them: transforming them into products that can then be exported at better prices, and/or using them to address Africa's own development needs, including building clean and affordable energy systems.
- 6. DRC, South Africa, Sudan, Zambia and Republic of Congo account for 90% of the continent's current opportunities to increase export of processed and transformed mineral products. Madagascar, Egypt, Namibia, Morocco and Mozambique also have opportunities for hundreds of millions of dollars in additional annual exports.
- 7. African countries should be strategic in deciding how to increase their participation in value chains. They should focus on **specialising in the parts of the value chain in which they are most competitive,** even if it means importing minerals from other countries, rather than seeing it as a necessity to retain the entire value chain of minerals within their own soil. **Retaining value on the continent is possible through flexible and collaborative strategies among African countries.**
- 8. Through this approach, there is also potential for Africa to **produce renewable energy technologies** for fostering an equitable access to energy on the continent, using its own transition minerals. **Regional economic cooperation and preferential trade agreements are key to ensure African countries can trade minerals amongst each other and become competitive in the renewable energy market**.

- 9. Mining has a huge human and environmental cost with devastating impacts, in particular for communities living in mining areas, Indigenous People, women, and rights defenders. No-go zones and safeguards must be put in place to protect ecosystems and the rights of affected populations, including a fair, ongoing process of Free, Prior and Informed Consent—the Indigenous People's right to give and withdraw consent to mining on their lands.
- 10. Value addition has to go hand in hand with strengthening accountability of the whole transition mineral value chain. We want to see resource-rich states adopt comprehensive national and regional laws for due diligence, public participation, and benefit-sharing. Investor-State Dispute Settlement (ISDS) mechanisms in Bilateral Investment Treaties undermine these efforts by allowing companies to challenge government actions aimed at protecting public interests, preventing these countries from implementing essential measures. Renegotiating such treaties are critical steps to empower states to implement regulations that ensure accountability in the transition mineral sector.
- 11. We need a globally just energy transition that is truly transformative for mineral rich, poorer countries. Consumer regions must play a role in supporting these countries' ambitions to become more involved in value chains. Key development partners have promised to do so through "partnership agreements" like the EU's Memoranda of Understanding with Namibia and Rwanda, and the MoUs the EU and US have with the DRC and Zambia. However, these promises are often contradicted by other policies undertaken by the same "development partners". Consumer regions should not pressure African countries to abandon industrial policies that support domestic mineral processing and transformation. Instead, they should focus on fulfilling their financial and technology transfer commitments, fostering industrial capacity in partner countries, and bringing economic benefits to African citizens.

1. Introduction

Key messages

- A boom in Africa's transition minerals is coming.
- Some resource-rich African countries experienced only limited benefits from the continent's last commodity boom. For things to be different this time, they need to change their approach to natural resource management.
- Poor governance has led many countries to be worse off as a result of possessing natural resources in the past. Transparency and accountability around revenue management, anti-corruption and environmental protection are paramount.
- The impacts of transition mineral mining on the environment, society and human rights can be severe in some cases.

1.1 A boom in demand for transition minerals is coming

"Transition minerals" are those minerals that are used in technologies linked to the transition to renewable energy. This includes minerals used to make renewable energy technologies, as well as those needed to help existing technologies (such as motor vehicles) to run on electricity. For the purposes of this project, we use the International Energy Agency (IEA)'s list of "critical minerals" linked to the energy transition (which in this case is equivalent to transition minerals).¹

Demand for many of these minerals is already strong and a source of exports for Africa. In 2022, Africa exported around \$29 billion in transition mineral products. From

1995 to 2018, transition minerals and associated products accounted for 23% of Sub-Saharan Africa's total exports.² In 2022, countries around the world reported sourcing \$55 billion in transition minerals (and metals derived from them) from Africa.³ And global demand is expected to increase further as the energy transition accelerates. Even based only on governments' current stated policies, demand for key transition minerals that Africa produces is expected to rise rapidly to 2050, as shown in Figure 1 below. If governments go further in climate mitigation than current policies and, for example, meet their announced emissions reduction targets, demand for transition minerals would be significantly greater.





* PGMs refers to platinum-group metals. Growth in demand for platinum-group metals is expressed as a percentage of the 2022 level.⁵

But many African resource-rich countries did not benefit much from the last commodity boom.

Will Africa's resource-rich countries benefit from such an increase in demand from these minerals? Unfortunately, history suggests otherwise, unless something changes. The last major boom in demand for (and prices of) the commodities that the continent produces took place from 2004 to 2014, linked to the rise of China and that country's rapidly increasing demand for raw materials. Although this boom generated additional government revenues (around \$1 billion per year on average compared to the pre-boom period of 1998-2003) in resource-rich African countries and spurred economic growth, much of this growth was confined to the resource sector. Indeed, "[0]nce the expanding resource sector's contribution to GDP growth is subtracted, overall economic

performance was not significantly higher than in the rest of Africa [i.e., in non-resource rich countries)".⁶

Moreover, in spite of higher government revenues, some of sub-Saharan Africa's resource-rich countries did not effectively invest in diversifying their economies or laying the groundwork for sustained economic growth. As a result, after the commodity boom ended, these countries experienced slower growth than the rest of sub-Saharan Africa. This is not an artefact of commodity prices declining and reducing the value of commodity production - growth in these countries continued to be lower than in the rest of the region, even after commodity prices stabilised in 2016.7 And some countries, such as the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) and Zimbabwe, have failed to invest their mineral wealth to the benefit of future generations, meaning that they could

be worse off unless more minerals are found. This is particularly important for the energy transition because the period of peak demand for transition minerals linked to the energy transition is likely to be temporary there will be high levels of demand linked to the replacement of the fossil-fuel based energy system, but once that is done, demand will be lower, driven by economic growth replacement of decaying equipment. Indeed, the period of peak demand could finish in 2050, when countries accounting for two thirds of world GDP aim to reach net zero emissions.⁸ Once this period is over, unless their governments invest mineral wealth for the long term, Africans could be left worse off.⁹

1.2 Different approaches needed to make the most of the boom

As a result, many voices are saying that, with the coming energy transition boom, "this time must be different" and African countries must benefit from the sale of their minerals. One way to do this is for African countries to revisit their mining tax and regulatory systems to make sure that they are getting the best deal possible from mining companies. In addition, African countries should strengthen public institutions, to ensure transparency and accountability in natural resource management,^{10,11} including management of natural resource the revenues.¹² Another way for Africa to benefit more from their transition minerals is for African countries to increase their participation in value chains linked to mining and mineral-based products, at the same time stimulating other sectors of the economy.¹³ These strategies could, in theory, be pursued concurrently, so long as governments have the bandwidth to do so.

Increasing participation in mineral value chains could be particularly beneficial if it allows African countries to diversify their economies and move into exporting products that they did not produce before. In addition to general research showing the benefits of producing a wider range of products and diversifying the economy,¹⁴ there is research underlining how moving into new products can enhance the contribution of natural resources to Africa's development.¹⁵

Moreover, encouraging the development of mineral processing can contribute to job creation and improved living standards, which are key priorities for people across 34 countries.¹⁶ (However, African recent research also suggests that, while industrialisation can create jobs, it will no longer be sufficient to transform developing economies. More comprehensive strategies encompassing other opportunities are also needed).¹⁷ This report therefore focuses on opportunities for African countries to add value to their energy transition minerals, with some discussion of possibilities for increased "local content" (i.e., supplying mining companies) linked to the production of these minerals. , and how the continent can seize those opportunities.

Beyond participating more in transition mineral value chains, African countries also need to better control the effects of transition mineral mining on the environment, society, human rights and Indigenous people's rights. According to the IEA, "[I]f poorly managed, mineral development can lead to a myriad of negative consequences, including:

- Significant greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions arising from energy-intensive mining and processing activities.
- Environmental impacts, including biodiversity loss and social disruption due to land use change, water depletion and pollution, waste related contamination, and air pollution.
- ...Fatalities and injuries to workers and members of the public, human rights abuses including child labour and unequal impacts on women and girls."¹⁸

As the IEA mentions in the quote above, the mining of transition minerals can have negative effects on the environment and communities around mining projects, as with the mining of other minerals. The extent of these effects can depend on how and where the mineral is mined; and the picture is not always the same for different transition minerals. For example, the negative environmental impacts of cobalt mining are sometimes similar to those from most mining. But, many of the most valuable sources of cobalt are located in environmentally sensitive areas such as forests where the degree of environmental damage from mining would be much greater.¹⁹ For lithium, local environmental impacts can be significantly larger than other types of mining, depending on the technique used.²⁰ Reducing available water is one of the key impacts,²¹ and is particularly severe for copper and lithium mining.²² The water demand "[C]reates competition for water between mining and other industries, especially agriculture, and thus affects food security."23 Impacts of transition mineral mining on the toxicity of the soil, which can harm agriculture and undermine food security.24,25

Other key environmental impacts include, "Waste generation – [m]ineral development results in massive amounts of residues, both during extraction and after utilisation, some of which are hazardous to human health...air pollution from particulate matter (e.g. mine dust) and gaseous emissions, and noise pollution due to blasting and transporting activities.^{"26}

Mining is also plagued with corruption. The extractive sector accounts for one in five cases of transnational bribery, according to the OECD.²⁷ Corrupt networks increase the poverty gap and the power asymmetry between government, companies and communities. It is impeding any chance of equitable redistribution of revenues.

Mining for transition minerals also has negative impacts on the climate. For example, many mining operations use fossil fuels to power their equipment. Leading sources of emissions from mining include haulage trucks, comminution and crushing equipment, bulldozers and excavators. Overall, mining (excluding coal mining) accounts for 2-3% of global CO2 emissions.²⁸

However, there may be positive impacts through the end use of these minerals if they speed the energy transition, and in so doing reduce CO2 emissions²⁹ and boost economic growth and reduce poverty.³⁰ As the same IEA report as cited above notes, "Mineral wealth can, if exploited responsibly, contribute to public revenue and provide economic livelihoods for many." ³¹ Africa itself is expected to benefit substantially economically if the global energy transition is achieved, with all of the continent's subregions expected to benefit, due to the wider economic effects of the transition. This mainly stems from the benefits of investment in renewable energy in Africa; effects of changes in global demand for fossil fuels are

small (African fossil fuel producers lose out, but these losses would be counterbalanced by gains for African fossil fuel importers).³²

By contrast, Africa stands to be among the worst-affected regions if efforts to address fail 33 climate change And African Development Bank, United Nations Environment Programme and United Nations' Economic Commission for Africa estimate that if the world warms to 4 degrees above pre-industrial levels by 2100, by 2050 GDP per capita could shrink by 7.2% in the United Republic of Tanzania, 6% in GuineaBissau and 5.9% in Liberia, when compared to a low warming scenario (less than 2 degrees of warming by 2100). (Impacts will be spread across the continent - we highlight these countries because they are some of the worst-affected for which there is high confidence in the model results).³⁴ And the additional emissions caused by mining transition minerals are expected to be far less than the additional emissions from fossil fuels without the minerals on which the energy transition depends.³⁵ Thus, overall, mining of these minerals would appear to mitigate climate change.

Figure 2: Estimates of the social cost of greenhouse gas emissions for each country³⁶



Social and human rights impacts of transition mineral mining also vary by context. In the DRC, poverty and a lack of better alternatives attract artisanal miners to mine cobalt in hazardous conditions. These include children. ³⁷ Cobalt mining also carries significant negative health impacts for miners.^{38,39,40}

Although the social and human rights impacts will vary from country to country,

exploitation of transition minerals is often associated with artisanal and small-scale mining. This in turn is often associated with unsafe mining practices and child labour. However, artisanal mining can provide incomes to poor individuals and families who might see mining opportunities instead go mainly to non-nationals from richer countries if they were unable to mine artisanally.⁴¹ In addition to the example of cobalt in the DRC mentioned above, artisanal and small-scale mining of transition minerals has also been found in the following African countries: Burundi, Ethiopia, Madagascar, Nigeria, Rwanda, Tanzania and Zimbabwe.^{42,43,44,45}

Overall, the social and human rights impacts of energy transition mining could be severe. One study (pre-peer review) estimates that mining to meet the energy transition objectives of the European Union alone could result in 15,000-89,000 Africans being forced into modern slavery.⁴⁶ Mining can also increase the cost of living for communities surrounding the mine and worsen gender inequities if mining opportunities lead men to reduce their support for household labour.⁴⁷ And research by the Business and Human Resource Centre has Riahts found widespread accusations of human rights violations in transition mineral mining.48

Although in theory environmental and social impacts can be managed, in practice

mechanisms for doing so often fail to be effective. For example, Africa, in environmental impact assessments of new mines fail to properly account for local environmental damage of mining. This can lead to mines being approved that would not have been if the environmental effects were properly accounted for. To help manage this risk, Diene et al. (2022) propose that governments ban mining (and, indeed, mineral exploration) in certain areas that are particularly environmentally sensitive ("no-go zones"). The reason for forbidding mineral exploration is that, once a discovery is made, this can create irresistible political pressure for mining to be undertaken in the area. In addition, disclosure of environmental management plans, establishment of environmental monitoring committees for mining and stopping the harassment and violence that many governments inflict on environmental defenders can also help.49

2. Africa's production of transition minerals

Key messages

- Transition mineral production in Africa is currently dominated by DRC, Zambia and South Africa. For most other countries, these minerals play a marginal role in their economies.
- Demand for the continent's transition minerals has significantly increased over time, following the arrival of 'modern renewable' energy. In addition to solar and wind power, increased use of other energy transition technologies such as electric vehicles is also likely contributing to this rising trend.

2.1 Africa's top producers of transition minerals

Africa produces a wide range of minerals that could be in demand due to the energy transition. Though many such minerals are produced on the continent, the data provided on transition mineral production in this section focuses on a limited number of those considered to provide particular opportunities for the continent to climb the value chain. These include nickel, manganese, cobalt and lithium (for their role in electric vehicle batteries, where Africa could hope to climb the value chain related to electric vehicle batteries). ⁵⁰ They also include copper and platinum, for which Africa could hope to process more of its existing production, according to the International Trade Centre – see Figure 3 below. Graphite is also important for the production of electric vehicles and Mozambique (10% of global production) and Madagascar (8%) are significant producers. However, we have not seen analysis suggesting that these or other African countries are currently well-placed to add value to their graphite or that this would generate significant economic opportunities, which is why we do not highlight it here.⁵¹



Figure 3: Africa's export products with potential (expansion of existing exports)⁵²

N.B.: Export potential is assessed based on the expected GDP growth in export markets and how far African countries could potentially increase their share of exports to those markets. The potential to increase market share is assessed based on a number of factors including how far the African country's exports are currently "below potential" as measured by the difference between the market share in that market, the exporter's global market share and the cost of trading between the two countries.⁵³

The main producers of these metals in Africa (by volume produced), as of 2021, were:

- Cobalt DRC (which is the largest producer in the world), followed by Madagascar, Morocco, South Africa, Zambia and Zimbabwe, in that order. Together, DRC, Madagascar, and Morocco account for around 70% of global cobalt production.⁵⁴
- Copper DRC, followed by Zambia, Tanzania, Morocco, South Africa, Eritrea, Mauritania, Botswana, Zimbabwe and Namibia. In 2022 DRC produced around 11% of the world's copper mine output in terms of recoverable metal content, while Zambia produced 4%.⁵⁵
- Lithium Zimbabwe, followed by Nigeria. In 2023, Zimbabwe was estimated to have produced around 2% of the world's lithium mine output, in terms of lithium content.⁵⁶
- Manganese South Africa, followed by Gabon, Ghana, Côte d'Ivoire, Zambia, Egypt, Morocco, Namibia and DRC. In 2022, South Africa produced around 37% of the world's manganese mine output in terms of metal content.⁵⁷
- Nickel South Africa, followed by Madagascar, Côte d'Ivoire, Zimbabwe, Zambia and Morocco. In 2021, South Africa produced 1% of the world's nickel in terms of metal content.⁵⁸
- Platinum South Africa, followed by Zimbabwe and Ethiopia. South Africa and Zimbabwe together accounted for 82% of the world's platinum production in 2022.⁵⁹

While we currently lack data on the value of production of transition minerals, we do have data on the total value of imports of these minerals from Africa, which can be a proxy for production value to the extent that most of the transition minerals that Africa produces are processed outside of the continent. These minerals currently only make a modest contribution to the continent's economy, as exports of them (and products directly based on them) account for less than 2% of Africa's GDP.⁶⁰ But transition mineral production is also highly uneven across the continent – in some countries that dominate transition mineral exports (e.g., DRC, Zambia), these exports account for a higher share of GDP, whereas in most African countries it will be significantly lower than 2%.

2.2 Africa's key markets for transition minerals

As can be seen from Figure 4 below, China is by far the largest importer of Africa's transition minerals, accounting for 55% of the total by itself.⁶¹

Figure 4: Imports of transition minerals from Africa (US\$ bn), 2022,⁶² top 20 importers



N.B.: See Annex I for the list of transition minerals and products derived from them used to produce this graph.

This is understandable, since China leads refining of many of these minerals, as shown in Part 3 on value addition.

Which are the main exporters of transition minerals in Africa? Figure 5 shows these below.



Figure 5 : Exports of transition minerals, \$bn, 2022⁶³

N.B.: Statistics shown here are based on import data reported by Africa's trading partners. This is because the data may be more reliable as many African countries can suffer from export under-invoicing which can distort export statistics.⁶⁴

In line with their status as the main producers of some of the most important transition minerals for the continent, South Africa, followed by DRC and Zambia, had by far the most valuable exports of transition minerals in 2022. The main trading relationships in transition minerals are shown in the graphic below.



Figure 6: Transition mineral exports from Africa to the rest of the world, 2022 - summary of main trade flows⁶⁵

N.B.: the thickness of arrows shows the value of imports from Africa. The arrow shown towards Belgium represents imports to the European Union as a whole. This is done because the EU has a common policy for securing transition minerals from Africa. An interactive version of this map showing the values of the different trading relationships is available <u>here</u>)

2.3 Key market trends

The main trend that Africa is experiencing is that demand for the continent's transition minerals has significantly increased over time, following the arrival of 'modern renewable' energy (i.e., solar and wind power) in the 1980s, as shown by the trend in the continent's exports of transition minerals (see Figure 7 below).⁶⁶ While there have been ups and downs in the level of demand, the overall trend is a clear increase over time. In addition to solar and wind power, increased use of other energy transition technologies such as electric vehicles is also likely contributing to this rising trend.





The trend appears to differ among the continent's producers, however. While South Africa and the 'other' group are seeing larger increases, Zambia and DRC have experienced more modest growth since 2013 (the period for which we have data for all countries) in absolute terms.⁶⁸ This may be because of the key role of copper in their transition mineral exports, which is expected to experience slower growth in demand during the energy transition than some other transition minerals (see Figure 1 above). This is in part because a smaller share of demand for copper comes from clean technologies than is the case for other energy transition minerals, so increased

demand due to the energy transition will have less of an impact.⁶⁹

Moreover, mining exploration spending in Africa was expected to slow down in 2023 as investors focused on low-risk projects.⁷⁰ Improving mining governance is one of the key ways that African countries can attract more investment, both by avoiding conflicts around mine sites and reducing reputational risks for mining companies that operate in Africa.^{71,72} In addition to attracting more investment, improving governance is also important as weak institutions have led many countries to be worse off as a result of their mineral resources.⁷³

3. Africa's participation in transition mineral value chains

Key messages

- Africa adds some value to its transition minerals but remains at relatively early stages of the value chain.
- Africa's transition minerals are mostly turned into manufactured products in China, which dominates renewable energy value chains. Aside from China, other exports mainly go to high-income countries.
- Africa could increase regional trade in transition minerals value chains, especially in those minerals that it can already process, such as chromium, cobalt, copper, lead and nickel.

Africa adds some value to its transition minerals, but this could be increased. In this section, we look at mineral processing, i.e., removing impurities from minerals to turn them into a purer form that can be used in manufacturing. While the picture varies greatly from mineral to mineral, several of the continent's minerals are mostly exported raw.



Figure 8: Share of Africa's transition mineral production that is processed on the continent, selected minerals, 2021⁷⁴

N.B.: These minerals are the only ones for which we were able to calculate the share of processing. Statistics for chromium are the author's estimate, inferred from trade and production data. They show the level of processing, but it is unclear whether this is smelting or refining. Statistics for lead exceed 100% because Africa imported a significant amount of lead in 2021 for processing and as a result the amounts processed exceed the amount of raw lead mined. It is unclear whether this is smelted or refined. Based on the data we have, no zinc was smelted or refined in Africa in 2021. Refined copper may be greater than smelted copper because the former includes copper refined through electrolytic refining, which is not smelted.

Although production process for different metals vary, "smelting" and "refining" refers to removal of impurities from minerals, with refining generally occurring after smelting. Post-refinery processing involves all other processes that the metal undergoes along the way to becoming a finished product that will be used in industry or by consumers.

Africa smelts only around 5% of the tin that it produces. And although Africa (specifically, South Africa) produces magnesite ore, it does not refine any of this into primary magnesium metal.⁷⁵ In addition, manganese in battery supply chains is processed into battery-grade manganese sulphate exclusively in China (which produces 97% of this material), Belgium and Japan.⁷⁶ And only China, Kazakhstan, the US and Vietnam can currently refine phosphorus into the form used into lithium-iron-phosphate electric vehicle batteries.⁷⁷ Graphite is also currently exclusively refined in China, even though Africa accounted for 14% of raw graphite in 2021.78

However, there are several other transition minerals that Africa does process, at least to some degree, on the continent. For instance, most cobalt produced in Africa undergoes at least some processing. While in the DRC (which accounts for over 90% of cobalt production in Africa by metal content)⁷⁹ it undergoes basic processing into cobalt oxide or hydroxide,⁸⁰ in Morocco and South Africa,

cobalt is refined.⁸¹ (Nevertheless, most cobalt undergoes further processing once it leaves Africa. even before starting to be manufactured into products. 99% of this processing occurs outside Africa).⁸² Platinum Group Metals are also mostly processed on the continent. South Africa processes over 70% of the global supply of these metals, with Zimbabwe processing a further 8%. South Africa and Zimbabwe also together process 98% of the world's iridium.83 Madagascar, Morocco and South Africa all smelt and/or refine nickel.⁸⁴ In summary, though Africa could process its minerals more, several countries on the continent do already process most or all of certain minerals, rather than exporting them raw. This underscores that value addition is possible under the right conditions.

Beyond smelting or refining minerals to remove impurities, African countries do not tend to process their minerals further – instead they are largely exported to China, Europe and the US (as shown in Figure 10 below).

If Africa was able to increase its processing of these minerals, there could be significant economic benefits. Take the example of copper refining. In 2022, the refined copper that Africa exported earned twice the price per kilogramme (of copper content) that certain unrefined copper (copper mattes and cement copper) earned. ⁸⁵

3.1 China as the main exportation hub for African transition minerals

As shown in Figures 9 and 10 below, most of Africa's transition minerals and products derived from that are exported go to China, with the remainder being sold to high-income

countries. While there is some intra-African trade in these products, it is very small, and accounts for only 2% of the continent's exports of transition minerals. The main hub

for importing transition minerals from within Africa is Zambia, which imports mainly raw copper and cobalt oxides and hydroxides from other African countries for further processing. The country has a refinery that produces refined copper as well as cobalt carbonates. The refinery is targeting an expansion of its cobalt production to be able to process around 1% of the continent's mine production of cobalt (in terms of metal content.⁸⁶

Aside from copper and cobalt, intra-African trade occurs in a wide range of transition

minerals or metals derived from them, including arsenic, boron and boronic acids, cadmium, chromium, germanium, graphite, lithium, manganese, nickel, niobium, platinum, silver, tantalum, tin, tungsten, germanium, zinc, zirconium and possibly other minerals. However, in many cases the value of this trade is very low (less than \$1000 imported annually from one African country to another), which raises the question of whether it is being imported for refining or rather for other purposes (e.g., use in scientific laboratories).⁸⁷







Figure 10: Main processing centres for African transition minerals (% by destination), 2022 - raw materials vs. intermediate goods

Raw materials

Intermediate goods

Some of this trade occurs in the context of agreements with importing countries to promote good governance of transition mineral value chains and/or value addition in producing countries. and to secure supply of these minerals. These include a Memorandum of Understanding signed between the EU and Namibia on access to rare earth elements.⁸⁹

China's purchases of Africa's minerals could be considered to be more like a governmentled effort to secure mineral supplies. Chinese companies have invested in mines across Africa and as a result control a significant share of the continent's energy transition mineral supply.⁹⁰ For example, a 2021 World Bank study reported that Chinese-owned mines control almost half of the DRC's production of cobalt.⁹¹ Given the frequent links between the Chinese government and companies from that country, investments by Chinese companies could be seen as investments by proxy by the Chinese state.

As mentioned in Part 2 on production, China is the main processing hub for transition minerals worldwide - see Figures 11-15 below.





As shown in figure 12 below, some African countries refine a significant share of the world's copper output - indeed, the DRC (Africa's largest copper producer) refines more than half the copper that it produces (measured in terms of metal content). This corroborates figure 8 above which shows that the continent as a whole refines more than half of the copper it produces. Unlike with many other transition minerals, China refines less than half of the world's copper, although it still refines more than any other single country.

Figure 12: Estimated global share in copper refining (measured by refinery output), 202393

| China. 44% | | | | |
|----------------------|-------------------|---------------------------|-------------------|---------------|
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | DRC. 7% | | Japan, 6% | |
| | | | Supari, Old | |
| Other countries, 11% | | Korea, Republic of, 2% | Germany, 2% | Poland, 2% |
| | Russia, 4% | | | |
| | | Mexico, 2% | Kazakhstan, 2% | Zambia, 1% |
| | | | | Canada, 1% |
| Chile, 7% | United States, 3% | Australia, 2% | Peru, 1% | Indonesia, 1% |





As shown in Figure 14 below, China appears to have maintained its position as the world's leading refiner of cobalt, lithium and nickel up to 2022.



Figure 14: Mining and refining of selected transition minerals, 2022⁹⁵



Figure 15: Lead and zinc refining by country, 2021⁹⁶

Even though Figure 8 above shows that Africa refines more lead than it produces, the continent's marginal role in global lead production (accounting for only 2%) means that it still accounts for only a small share of total production of refined lead (only 1%).⁹⁷ The mismatch between these two percentages may be explained by some countries having stockpiled lead in previous years that was refined in 2021.

3.2 Africa's marginal role further down the value chain

China is even more dominant further along the value chain, in the manufacture of energy transition technologies. It leads the world in its ability to transform cobalt and lithium into components, for example.⁹⁸ Africa is not a major player in the manufacture or sale of technologies linked to the energy transition such as batteries or renewable energy, as shown in the figures below.



Figure 16: Production of battery cells and batteries by country, % 99

Zooming in in more detail on the countries that participate in electric vehicle battery value chains, it is clear that Africa's role is marginal in the more advanced stages of the value chain (i.e., after material processing).



Figure 17: Geographical distribution of the global EV battery supply chain¹⁰⁰

N.B.: In the mining and material processing sections of this chart, minerals are shown by their chemical symbols.

China also dominates the manufacture of other components for batteries, such as separators and electrolytes.¹⁰¹

Figure 18: Manufacture of electric vehicle (EV) batteries and manufacture and sale of electric vehicles, by country¹⁰²



Figure 19: Share of manufacturing of electrolysers and solar PV by country, 2022¹⁰³



Electrolysers are a key element in green hydrogen production and a potentially important source of demand for nickel or platinum-group metals.¹⁰⁴ Solar PV cells are the building blocks of solar modules or panels used to make solar energy.¹⁰⁵

Figure 20: Capacity to manufacture wind turbine nacelles by producing country, 2023¹⁰⁶





Overall, China controls the vast majority of other key wind turbine components such as gearboxes (where its share is 80%), wind power converters (82%), wind power generators (73%) and castings capable of supplying wind (82%).¹⁰⁷

However, the continent does manufacture some technology relevant to the energy transition. For example, a facility producing batteries for energy storage started production in South Africa in 2022.¹⁰⁸ In addition, investors have committed to invest in producing battery cathodes (one of the stages in the value chain for producing electric vehicle and energy storage batteries) in Morocco.¹⁰⁹ Moreover, Africa already produces electrical wiring in significant quantities. Countries including Angola, Egypt, the United Republic of Tanzania and Zambia all produce or have produced this product. As demand for electrification increases with the energy transition, demand for electrical wiring is likely to increase, creating an opportunity for these and other African countries. In addition, countries including Algeria, Angola, Egypt, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Madagascar, Morocco, Nigeria, Senegal, Tunisia, United Republic of Tanzania and Zimbabwe produce or have produced (electrical) primary cells, batteries and/or electrical accumulators, though it is not clear to what extent these batteries may be used in energy transition technologies.¹¹⁰

4. Making the most of Africa's transition minerals

Key messages

- Africa has valuable reserves of transition minerals that could contribute to sustainable development if the continent can avoid the resource curse. But unless they spur broader industrial development, they are unlikely to be transformative for any of the countries that possess them.
- African countries can realistically add value to their transition minerals. Based on data from the International Trade Centre and others, expanding existing value addition on the continent could add up to \$24 bn to Africa's GDP and create 2.3 million jobs. African countries could also have further opportunities in solar, wind and electric vehicle battery value chains, inter alia.
- DRC, South Africa, Sudan, Zambia and Republic of Congo account for the overwhelming majority of opportunities to increase existing mineral processing in Africa.
- African countries should be strategic in deciding how to increase participation in energy transition value chains (i.e., which opportunities to pursue). Rather than trying to keep the entire value chain for renewable energy production in the continent, African countries should target those activities that they can do most competitively.
- In some cases it may be better to process minerals imported from elsewhere rather than a country's own minerals.
- Supplying mining companies is also an important opportunity for the continent. African countries have had limited success in this area to date. But there are a number of policies for supporting domestic companies to supply the mining sector that have worked well in Africa and elsewhere.
- To seize these opportunities, African countries should adhere to the principles of effective industrial policy.

In this section, we seek to identify opportunities for African countries to competitively increase their participation in transition mineral value chains. We do not analyse in detail opportunities for Africa to capture more of renewable energy value chains where the continent would not be competitive but could nonetheless retain more economic activity on the continent through providing permanent subsidies to firms involved, or using permanent trade restrictions to force firms operating in Africa to use products manufactured on the continent. This is because focusing on those activities in which they are most competitive could achieve similar economic benefits, but at a lower financial cost (whether in terms of subsidies or higher prices faced by consumers), allowing the savings to go towards other priorities.

Focusing on developing the parts of the value chain that they can carry out competitively is also the right approach for promoting energy access. Where African can source inputs used in energy value chains more cheaply from outside the continent than from inside it, doing the former will cut the cost of energy. African countries should then be **collaborative**, **strategic** and **prioritise**

developing the parts of mineral (and other) value chains in which they are most competitive, rather than seeing it as a necessity to retain the entire value chain on the continent.

4.1. Adding value to Africa's transition minerals

African countries have opportunities to add value to their transition minerals. For example, Figure 21 shows African countries' potential to export more of processed transition minerals (or products derived from them) that they already export. The statistics in Figure 21 are based on analysis of markets where African countries might be able to increase their exports (i.e., where either a) they export less than expected to those markets, given the cost of trading with them and Africa's current market share in the product in question; or b) demand from those markets is expected to increase).¹¹¹ They are not based on a feasibility analysis of specific processing projects. The numbers consider only opportunities for each African country to increase its share in foreign markets of products that it already exports. This could be achieved either through making more sales, or achieving higher prices for export sales, e.g., through better marketing. Our method does not allow us to quantify the size of opportunities to start exporting new products. See Annex II for a description of the methodology.



Figure 21: Potential for increased annual exports of transition minerals in Africa, 2022-2028112

N.B.: Numbers shown here are rounded to the nearest \$1bn. Countries shown in white either lack data, or our model suggests that there are no opportunities for adding more value to transition minerals (i.e., processing them and/or using them to manufacture products).

These opportunities total \$32 billion in annual exports for the entire continent.¹¹³ They are dominated by DRC, South Africa, Zambia, Sudan and Republic of Congo, which together account for over 90% of the continent's export opportunities.¹¹⁴ These countries have the opportunity to increase their annual exports of processed mineral products by billions of dollars (over \$10 billion each for DRC and South Africa). Madagascar, Egypt, Namibia, Morocco and Mozambique also have opportunities for hundreds of millions of dollars in additional annual exports. These opportunities can make a significant contribution to the GDP of the countries benefiting from these opportunities, though for most countries on the continent these opportunities would add less than 1% to their current GDP. Although it has some of the largest opportunities in absolute terms, because South Africa is one of Africa's largest economies the impact on its GDP is more modest in percentage terms. The dataset accompanying this report provides data on the specific opportunities by country.

Figure 22: Potential increase in GDP from adding more value to transition minerals by country, 2022-28¹¹⁵



N.B.: For countries shown in white, we lack data on export opportunities

Most of these opportunities are for exports of processed metal, primarily copper (\$14 bn) but also platinum group metals (\$9bn), intermediate cobalt products (mattes - \$4bn), lead (\$3bn) and nickel (\$1bn).

There are also opportunities for Africa to export more products with a greater degree of value addition beyond metal processing and semi-manufacture. The main among these are production of copper wiring and (copper-based) coaxial cable, with \$5bn of annual export opportunities. The fact that these estimates are limited to only those products that the continent already exports may conceal some opportunities for individual African countries to move into exporting new products that they do not currently produce.

How will these export opportunities affect African economies more broadly? We estimate the potential impact on African countries' GDP if they are able to seize all of the relevant export opportunities. (See Annex II for an explanation of the methodology). We find that these opportunities could add \$24 bn to the continent's GDP. Why is this figure less than the \$32 bn added to exports? Because the figure for exports includes the value of imported inputs used to produce those exports, which is not included in GDP. The same countries with the largest export potential (DRC, South Africa, Zambia, Sudan and Republic of Congo) also dominate the effects on the continent's GDP. These opportunities could create around 2.3 million jobs across the continent, if they could all be seized.¹¹⁶ Our estimates suggest that these are likely to be concentrated in the same five countries mentioned above. However, South

Africa's manufacturing sector appears to create fewer jobs for a given level of production than the average for African countries for which we have data (because its manufacturing workers are more productive), so these opportunities may create fewer jobs there relative to the size of the expected boost to GDP.¹¹⁷ As a result, DRC would see the highest level of job creation on the continent - our estimates suggest that almost half of these opportunities to create new jobs lie in that country.¹¹⁸

Though the export opportunities themselves are highly concentrated, they could also have positive economic effects for the rest of Africa. This is because other African countries may supply inputs to the countries expected to have the greatest export opportunities. Republic of Congo (at around \$ 1bn in indirect economic benefits) and Egypt (at around \$400 m) are among the African countries that could experience the greatest 'indirect benefits' from other African countries processing more transition minerals for export.

To seize these opportunities, African countries may need to put in place policies to attract investment in the relevant activities, and/or use commercial diplomacy to support existing African firms to expand their share in foreign markets.¹¹⁹ See the sub-section below on 'How can Africa seize these opportunities?' for further details.

4.2 Entering new segments of the energy transition value chain

Africa's opportunities are not limited to exporting more of the products that the continent already produces. The continent could also enter into new segments of energy transition value chains. Some examples of these related to solar and wind energy are outlined in the <u>case study</u> linked to this report.

Another opportunity is in the value chain for nickel-manganese-cobalt batteries. Both DRC and Zambia may be able to start producing cobalt sulphate, a more processed form of the mineral than what the countries currently produce. ¹²⁰ There is also research suggesting that a battery precursor plant may be viable in the region if it has a sufficient supply of raw minerals.¹²¹ DRC and Zambia have agreed to produce together. However, political and practical challenges of agreeing where the plant will be located and sourcing enough raw materials for it to have sufficient scale cast doubt on the likelihood of success.¹²²

Countries far from consumer markets for electric vehicles using nickel-manganesecobalt batteries have not generally been able to advance further than battery precursors along the electric vehicle battery value chain. This is because battery cathodes (the next link in the chain) are difficult to transport, and cell manufacturing (which occurs after cathodes, "[T]tends to be located close to EV manufacturers to benefit from quicker, more flexible delivery to customers."¹²³

Some opportunities for adding value to transition minerals may not necessarily involve adding value to producing countries' own minerals, but rather in entering the value chain at later stages. This includes construction of some parts of wind turbines, for example, as explained in the case study attached to this report on wind energy. In addition, Diene et al. (2022) argue that Africa could be well-placed to enter the value chain for lithium-iron-phosphate batteries by assembling batteries, using imported components for use in the African market, rather than trying to transform the minerals into battery components. This is because a) Africa does not currently produce much lithium; and b) as noted above, electric vehicle battery assembly generally takes place close to the consumer market for the vehicles, and Africa is more likely to use electric vehicles based on this type of battery rather than nickel-manganese-cobalt

batteries (for which it does produce the necessary minerals).¹²⁴

African countries could potentially add other stages in the value chain (e.g. mining, lithium refining and battery cell manufacturing) in the future. However, according to Diene et al (2022), in order to attract investment in refining and battery cell manufacturing, they would need to achieve economies of scale through increasing both the level of lithium production and demand for electric vehicles, using lithium-iron-phosphate batteries in the region. This could be achieved through putting in place charging infrastructure and removing barriers to trade between African countries in feedstock for a lithium refinery, as well as lithium-iron-phosphate battery cells and/or the vehicles that use them.¹²⁵

Some African countries have already been able to manufacture batteries based on imported components. South Africa is one example, entering the battery manufacturing value chain using imported cells.¹²⁶

ITC's Export Potential Map identifies further potential opportunities for African countries to process transition minerals and produce other products at other stages in the value chain. This information can be found <u>here</u>.

In the long term, African countries' reserves of transition minerals will be an important factor in determining their opportunities to participate more in transition mineral value chains. Africa has substantial reserves of transition minerals. Figure 23 below shows countries' transition mineral reserves, with several African countries highlighted. As can be seen from the graphic, South Africa, the DRC and Liberia have by some distance the most valuable reserves in Africa. Please note that the reserves data covers different transition minerals to those listed above in footnote 1 (e.g., it includes bauxite, iron ore and phosphates).¹²⁷ This is in part why countries such as Liberia and Mauritania, which have substantial reserves of iron ore, are not among the main producers above.¹²⁸ Nigeria also has some of the most valuable reserves of transition minerals on the continent (including lithium), as shown in Figure 23, but the underdevelopment of the country's mining sector and recency of some discoveries means that production remains limited for now.¹²⁹ Similarly, while Tanzania possesses reserves of a range of transition minerals, in some cases (e.g., nickel) they are not yet being produced on a large scale.¹³⁰



Figure 23: Countries with the most valuable transition mineral reserves in Africa¹³¹

N.B.: Countries that are highlighted with data labels do not necessarily have the most valuable reserves.

As an aside, the opportunities to produce these products rely on inputs manufactured either in the producing country or elsewhere in Africa. In order to seize these opportunities, African countries may therefore wish to improve the competitiveness of the sectors that supply inputs to the manufacture of these products, and that add to the cost of transporting inputs across the country (or across Africa) to where the product in question will be manufactured.¹³²

5. How can Africa seize these opportunities?

5.1 Industrial policies

To increase their participation in transition mineral value chains and ensure that doing so it benefits the economy, African countries may need to maintain dialogue with the private sector, adapting regulations and taxes to encourage the development of these new activities.¹³³ Governments will also need to monitor policies used to develop these new industries, and be ready to stop them when they are not working.¹³⁴ They will need coordinate actions across several to government ministries, and be able to call on a more senior government department, e.g., the President or Prime Minister's office, to resolve coordination problems or disputes between different parts of government.¹³⁵

In addition, successful policies to support industrial development ("industrial policies") typically provide incentives for firms to succeed, e.g., by making government support conditional, and/or looking for firms that have invested their owners' own resources and have something to lose if they fail to be competitive.¹³⁶ And they are more likely to succeed if they focus on supporting national **firms to export**, rather than protecting them from import competition. ¹³⁷ Boosting firms' competitiveness, rather than mandating domestic processing (or penalising the export of raw minerals) is also usually more likely to succeed, except where producers have a high level of market power.¹³⁸

Further recommendations from the United Nations Industrial Development Organization for successful industrial policies are as follows:

- Ensure adequate infrastructure
- Combine "horizontal" policies (e.g., government efficiency, basic infrastructure) with interventions targeted at specific activities
- Co-operate regionally
- Strengthen firms' and workers' skills
- Plan industrial policies for the long term
- Provide adequate public financial support.¹³⁹

5.2 Regional economic integration and preferential trade agreements

Renewable energy technology requires combining sets of minerals located in different countries. Regional cooperation and preferential trade agreements among African countries are crucial for creating an environment conducive to industrial growth. By collaborating, African countries can develop regional value chains that leverage various competitive advantages, share resources, and create larger markets for their products. This approach can help build competitive industries that are capable of adding significant value to transition minerals.

Regional economic integration notably within the Southern African Development

Community (SADC) gathering most of the countries with substantial reserves, and preferential trade agreements among African countries as being negotiated within the African Continental Free Trade Area (AfCFTA) Framework, would allow minerals import and export within the continent at best price and enhance the continent's competitiveness. The measures that can increase this integration include: waiving export taxes on raw commodity exports to others within the region; investing in infrastructure to develop trade corridors; investina in processing joint and transformation facilities; cutting intra-African tariffs on products that would form part of intra-African value chains in renewable energy technology.

Deeper trade integration on the continent can be pursued within the AfCFTA, as well as through agreements between specific groups of African countries, such as the SADC, and bilateral trade agreements between neighbouring countries. The AfCFTA helps to reduce the complexity currently facing businesses within Africa, which have to navigate many different intra-African trade agreements, each with its own set of rules. By covering the whole continent, the AfCFTA supports greater trade between all African countries, simplifying the trade landscape. At the same time, smaller regional

groups like the SADC as well as bilateral agreements can complement the AfCFTA by fostering closer economic ties among neighbouring countries, laying the aroundwork for the much needed industrial cooperation (see above). Additionally, civil society organisations have concerns that need to be addressed in the design and implementation of the AfCFTA. The overall process has lacked democratic participation, and it is essential to involve civil society organisations to ensure their concerns are addressed. This participation will help foster policies that benefit all stakeholders and support sustainable economic development across the continent. The African Union is currently developing an African Green Minerals Strategy to make the most of the continent's transition minerals. In line with the above, the Strategy should emphasise deeper regional economic integration and coordination of industrial policies to support the development of transition mineral value chains on the continent.

Finally, joint investments in infrastructure, research and development can further enhance the competitiveness of African industries. Working together, African countries can ensure that the benefits of the transition mineral boom are widely shared and contribute to sustainable economic development across the continent

5.3 Transparency and accountability of government action

Transparency and accountability of government action in these areas are also likely to be key to ensure that government officials use these policies to promote national economic interests, rather than their own personal ones, and take into account the voices of marginalised groups such as women and Indigenous peoples. Good governance will also remain central to ensuring mining itself makes a positive contribution to the societies in which it occurs. ¹⁴⁰

In the interest of transparency and accountability around efforts to promote greater participation in mineral value chains, governments should publish:
- The reasoning behind the granting of measures designed to support specific industries, including costbenefit analyses.
- Clear criteria used to decide whether support measures should remain in place and which firms can qualify. On top of providing transparency and accountability around the use of these measures, publishing these criteria in advance and sticking to them will also make policy more predictable for business, which is helpful for attracting investment.

In addition, where governments use tax incentives to promote these industries, these should be tightly controlled. Tax incentives refer to exemptions or reduced rates from general tax laws that apply to specific industries or firms. Such incentives should be subject to both ex-ante and ex-post costbenefit analyses and compared against other uses for the same funds. Ex-ante analyses are recommended by the International Monetary Fund, Intergovernmental Forum on Mining, Minerals, Metals and Sustainable Development and World Bank, which provide guidance on how countries can conduct these evaluations,¹⁴¹ while the African Tax Administration Forum (ATAF) and the United Nations' Economic Commission for Africa (ECA) recommend ex-post monitoring.¹⁴²

In addition, the ATAF and the ECA also recommend publishing details of tax incentives and requiring that they be authorised in law (rather than allowing government agencies to issue them on an adhoc basis), time-limiting them and preparing tax expenditure budgets (i.e., forecasts of the costs of the various tax incentives being granted). They provide a methodology for the preparation of such budgets.¹⁴³Along with the Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development, the ATAF and the ECA recommend that such incentives are included in the budgeting process.¹⁴⁴

Governments should also publish information on the costs and benefits of each of these incentives. This is because such incentives can be very costly, and the benefits are often unclear. They can be useful in some cases, such as addressing market failures or for activities that have knowledge spillovers to other sectors, but in general they do not appear to boost economic growth (though they might do so if targeted at sectors that grow particularly fast over time, such as manufacturing).¹⁴⁵

It is worth noting that one popular policy measure for encouraging greater domestic processing, the use of export restrictions, appears to often have been ineffective in promoting domestic value addition, except where the country in question has a high level of market power such that buyers of the processed mineral are 'forced' to purchase processed minerals from that country, even if it is more expensive.¹⁴⁶ In any case, countries restricting exports of raw minerals are less likely to develop competitive downstream processing if they do not invest in enhancing productivity and/or do not put performance requirements in place for mineral processing firms, restrictions on exports of raw minerals. They may also face a trade-off between the competitiveness of the upstream mining sector and the downstream processing sector;147 and governments are often unpleasantly surprised by the extent of the negative impacts of such restrictions on their mining industries.¹⁴⁸ Before using these restrictions, countries should carefully weigh their costs, benefits and likelihood of success, and consider alternative policy tools such as improving the business environment for downstream processing by investing in infrastructure, skills, access to finance and ensuring that the regulatory framework is appropriate, inter alia.149

More broadly, although African countries may have opportunities to develop new industries linked to transition minerals, they might have even better opportunities in other parts of their economies. In addition, policies to promote greater participation in mineral value chains can come at a cost and African countries should consider whether this is worth the benefits. For example, and as discussed above, if African countries use scarce public funds for subsidies or tax breaks to promote greater participation in transition mineral value chains, they should ask themselves whether these funds could be better used elsewhere. Or if they oblige the mining sector to supply cheap raw materials to the mineral processing sector, or use domestic suppliers even when they are not competitive, governments should consider whether the potential lost investment, jobs and revenues from mining are worth the benefits that they expect to get from greater participation in transition mineral value chains.

5.4 Strong safeguards against corruption, human rights abuses and environmental degradation

Mining is already plagued with corruption, governance issues, human rights abuses and degradation. environmental Transition minerals mining and activities linked to value addition won't be different if strong safeguards are not in place. Many of the most valuable sources of cobalt are located in environmentally sensitive areas such as forests.¹⁵⁰ For lithium, local environmental impacts can be significantly larger than other types of mining, depending on the technique used. Both cobalt and lithium mining can water.151 drastically reduce available Transition mineral mining can also pollute the air and soil, harming local populations' health and livelihood, and undermining agriculture and food security.152

The **social impacts** of energy transition mining could also be severe. Corrupt networks increase the poverty gap and the power asymmetry between government, companies and communities. It is notably impeding any chance of equitable redistribution of revenues. In addition, one study estimates that mining to meet the energy transition objectives of the EU alone could result in 15,000-89,000 Africans being forced into **modern slavery**.¹⁵³ Mining can also increase the cost of living for **communities** surrounding the mine and worsen **gender inequities** if mining opportunities lead men to reduce their support for household labour.¹⁵⁴

Although in theory environmental and social impacts can be managed, in practice mechanisms for doing so often fail to be effective. This can notably lead to mines being approved that would not have been if the environmental effects were properly accounted for.¹⁵⁵ The rush to transition minerals can increase pressure on African governments to fast track licensing and open up mining in sensitive and high risk areas.

Transition minerals extraction and value addition must break with mistakes of the past. As highlighted below, value addition has to go hand in hand with strengthening public institutions, policy development and implementation to ensure good governance, transparency, accountability¹⁵⁶ of the whole extractive sector, as well as effective public participation and benefit sharing.

All communities affected by mining and value addition activities must be meaningfully consulted and empowered to participate. Nogo zones and safeguards must be put in place to protect ecosystems and the rights of affected populations, including a fair, ongoing process of Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC) as required by the International Labor Organization's Convention 169 on Indigenous and Tribal Peoples (ILO Convention 169). Extraction must happen following the highest international standards to avoid further environmental destruction and human rights violations, in line with the UN guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights. This should include consulting communities in their own languages.

5.5 Legal and policy frameworks

To achieve these measures, African countries may wish to consider implementing the Africa Mining Vision to a greater degree. The Vision emphasises adding value to Africa's minerals. Adopting country mining visions can be an effective way to put the vision into practice.¹⁵⁷

Furthermore, **maintaining legal sovereignty is essential**. Resource rich countries must retain the right to regulate and oversee the exploitation of their natural resources **without** undue interference from investor-state dispute settlements (ISDS) that prioritise corporate interests over public welfare. This requires robust legal frameworks that empower governments to enact and enforce laws protecting the environment and human rights, ensuring that the benefits of resource extraction contribute to sustainable development and the well-being of all citizens.

5.6 Increasing local content

In addition to processing its transition minerals and/or manufacturing products in value chains related to the energy transition, African countries could also try to capture a greater share of the economic value of mining itself.

In mining

According to NRGI, "Local content" in the mining sector refers to the "[Value that an extraction project brings to the local, regional or national economy beyond the resource

revenues."¹⁵⁸ It is often taken to mean the share of economic value created by mining

itself (rather than adding value to minerals) that is paid to workers and businesses in the country where the mine is located.

Increasing local content in mining could have significant potential to contribute to African economies. Local procurement in mining typically accounts for 50-70% of all spending in host countries, outstripping payments to government and social investment.¹⁵⁹ Yet in most developing countries, only an estimated 45% of mining supplies come from domestic companies.¹⁶⁰ Moreover, output of the mining services sector alone was at least \$71 billion in 2019, based on data for only 31 countries;¹⁶¹ another source estimates that, worldwide, the sector is several times that size.¹⁶² In addition, African countries imported around \$7 billion in mining equipment from outside of the continent in 2022. ¹⁶³

How well are African countries doing in capturing local content? Diene et al. (2022) argue that African countries could significantly improve their local content policies and provide recommendations as to how to do so. These include:

- Financing the expansion of supplier companies
- Targeting requirements for local content to goods and services that businesses in the host country can produce, based on consultation with mining companies and national industry, as is the case in Ghana.¹⁶⁴

Other literature also supports this point.

- Developing regional markets for mining suppliers to benefit from economies of scale
- Requiring partnerships between experienced and new mining suppliers.¹⁶⁵

In addition, local content policies often fail to make provision for marginalised groups, such as women and Indigenous people, to benefit from local content.¹⁶⁶

One example of where African countries could increase their mining local content is the manufacture of mining equipment. South Africa already manufactures significant amounts of such equipment, accounting for around 40,000 jobs and \$2 billion in turnover as of 2017.¹⁶⁷

According to the International Trade Centre's Export Potential Map, Africa could have significant potential for increasing its exports of mining equipment (suggesting that it can also manufacture more for domestic use). The most significant opportunity is in manufacturing parts of mining equipment, where ITC estimates that the continent could increase its annual exports by over \$500m.¹⁶⁸

In other parts of transition mineral value chains

African countries can also try to boost local content in other parts of mineral value chains that input into the mineral processing sectors or other manufacturing activities that use transition minerals as inputs. This can increase the likelihood that transition mineral processing or other transition mineral-based manufacturing will be successful if it can competitively provide inputs to those activities. It can also increase the economic benefits that African countries derive from transition mineral-based manufacturing.¹⁶⁹

Mobilising additional revenues

As an alternative to increased value addition or local content, African countries could focus on trying to mobilise additional revenues from their mining sectors. If countries use policies to try to oblige mining companies to add value in-country (or use local suppliers - see above), this could hit investment in the mining sector itself, which is an important source of government revenues and can significantly contribute to jobs.¹⁷⁰

We estimate that some African governments currently manage to collect as tax revenue around 16 to 56% of the value of mineral reserves. Based on the most recent data on collection rates and the data shown above on the continent's transition mineral reserves this could mean, for example, that DRC would collect around \$357 billion from its reserves, Liberia \$82 billion, Mauritania \$89 billion, if the countries can exploit their transition mineral reserves. These are total amounts (i.e., not per year) based on its currently discovered reserves.¹⁷¹ Figure 25 below shows these amounts in terms of government revenues per person, per year, spread out between 2024 and 2050 (the period during which demand for transition minerals is expected to be highest).





N.B.: These revenues represent taxes levied on the mining sector directly. They ignore any tax revenues that may result from taxing mining sector suppliers, or from taxing additional economic activities that result from adding value to these minerals.

However, a recent study by GIZ and Econias also concludes that the contribution of transition minerals to government revenues across Sub-Saharan Africa on average would be more modest (though the picture may differ for individual countries). The authors estimate that the region would be able to mobilise around \$20 billion in total (not per annum) in additional government revenues between now and 2040.173 This equates to around 5% of the region's annual government revenues as of 2020 (this is the most recent year for which we have data; in spite of the effects of the COVID19 pandemic, the decline government revenues that Africa in

experienced in 2020 was relatively modest).¹⁷⁴ In addition to mining revenues, if African countries can capture more of the value chain (whether through supplying mining companies, or adding value to commodities), this could spur economic growth and industrial development on the continent. We discuss this further later in the present report.

Yet as noted in part 1, some African resourcerich countries failed to benefit from the last commodity boom in spite of higher government revenues, which may suggest that in those countries, these revenues by themselves make a limited contribution to development. To respond to this, countries can either strengthen institutions for public financial management to ensure that resource revenues are spent well,¹⁷⁵ and/or increase their participation in mineral value chains to generate wider economic benefits outside of the mining sector. Countries will need to judge to what extent there is a tradeoff between these objectives, and which is likely to bring greater gains.

Royalty/tax concessions remain the prevalent fiscal regime in the mining industry in Africa. While the type of fiscal regime does not necessarily determine the financial outcomes for resource rich countries, the terms of royalty/tax concessions in African countries are often contained in negotiated mineral agreements rather than being unilaterally determined and set in legislations as is the practice in developed countries. Bilaterally negotiated mineral agreements have been found to undermine the development of an effective mining legal system and prone to information asymmetries that incure to the benefit of private corporations. The negotiation processes of such agreements have often lacked the level of transparency that will be necessary for probity and accountability, which are fundamental in the use and management of natural resources. Further, the involvement of several state and quasistate agencies may pose multiple principalagency challenges, leading to even higher enforcement costs.

For African countries to successfully mobilise the much-needed additional revenue from its transition minerals, it is instructive to ensure that legal systems are strengthened. Fiscal terms must be clearly and unilaterally defined in a general mining law and any conditions for any exceptions stated to curb abuse of discretion and subjectivity.

Knowledge and capacity asymmetries of state and quasi-state institutions - including ministries of finance, mining ministries and central banks - tend to undermine effective governance of the sector. African countries must invest in capacity building so that these stakeholders can effectively monitor and accurately ascertain the production of transition minerals.

Lastly, the governance framework of transition minerals in Africa must be open for active civil society participation and community engagement. This will ensure transparency in the mobilisation and use of taxes for the common good of society especially communities most impacted by mining activities.

6. What role should development partners play?

Countries to which Africa sells its transition minerals can also play a role in supporting the continent's ambitions to become more involved in value chains. This is particularly true because, in some cases, (such as the EU and US Memoranda of Understanding (MoUs) with Zambia and DRC, and the EU's MoUs with Namibia and Rwanda) **development partners have promised to support African countries to process their transition minerals domestically,** as part of agreements designed to facilitate access to those minerals.¹⁷⁶ Where Africa's partners have made these promises, they should keep them. This support need not be restricted to processing transition minerals in-country, but could also cover efforts to boost local content, i.e., a greater role for domestic companies in supplying the mining sector.

Partner countries can support greater participation in transition mineral value chains in Africa by cutting the barriers that they sometimes impose against imports from Africa. These can include tariffs on imports of processed transition minerals, as they may significantly add to the cost of processing in some cases.¹⁷⁷ Most major trading partners provide duty-free, quota-free market access¹⁷⁸ for processed transition minerals from least-developed countries, **but this preferential access becomes meaningless if African countries are prevented from implementing industrial policies aiming to integrate higher stages of the value chain.**

The energy transition pushes all regions towards industrial policies that entail various degrees of protectionism. For example, the United States' Inflation Reduction Act provides tax advantages for electric vehicles that are manufactured using transition minerals that were extracted or processed in the United States or countries with which it has a free trade agreement, or recycled in North America.¹⁷⁹ The EU has also committed itself to processing 40% of the "critical raw materials" that it consumes from within its borders by 2030. And the UK has also committed to increasing its processing capacity for its list of "critical minerals". Africa's partners shouldn't prevent Africa from using similar measures if they wish to support Africa's aspirations to process more of the transition minerals that it produces. African governments should focus on preferential continental trade, as national protectionism is less conducive to competitiveness in the global market. However, Africa's development partners should support Africa and trade disputes.¹⁸⁰

Another way in which partner countries can support African countries to participate more in transition mineral value chains is to provide financing to support upgrading infrastructure, transferring and developing skills, etc. to help African countries participate in transition mineral value chains more competitively. Related to this, in pursuing trade agreements with African countries, where African countries are part of a customs union they should try to sign trade agreements with the customs union as a whole rather than its individual members. In doing so they can avoid undermining political trust in the regional integration process among customs union members.

7. Conclusions and Recommendations

Africa is an important supplier of transition minerals to the world. Yet the continent is stuck at a relatively low level in transition mineral value chains, where it processes some of its minerals but is largely absent from the manufacturing of many technologies linked to clean energy. As a result, the continent may be missing out on a key opportunity to support inclusive growth, create jobs and reduce poverty.

To have the best chance at seizing this opportunity, African countries will need to apply the principles of effective industrial policy. This includes being strategic about which parts of the value chain they try to develop and weighing the costs and benefits of different types of government intervention. It is also likely to mean making industrial policies in a transparent, accountable and participatory way. Managing negative sideeffects of mining and mineral processing on the environment, society, communities and human rights will be crucial. Some commentators argue that Africa should use its transition minerals to build entire renewable energy value chains on the continent. Yet as outlined in the case study in this report, Africa may not (yet) be in a position to do so efficiently. The continent may benefit more from using its minerals to spur industrial development and raise incomes and living standards by creating jobs and growing the tax base to provide more funds towards public spending. Higher private incomes and greater public resources can then be used to finance improved energy access and/or other development priorities in Africa, at a lower financial cost to Africans than if African governments tried to develop entire renewable energy value chains on the continent.

In this context, our recommendations for Africa to make the most of its transition minerals are as follows:

African countries should:

- Develop strong policies and appropriate regulations to encourage value addition of their transition minerals or greater participation of national companies in supplying mining companies. But they should weigh this against other opportunities to promote new businesses. African countries should prioritise the opportunities with the greatest chance of delivering the widest long-term economic benefits. They should also take into account broader impacts of promoting greater participation in transition mineral value chains, such as effects on human rights and climate, and more localised environmental impacts.¹⁸¹
- Ensure that policies to promote greater participation in energy transition supply chains are developed through dialogue with the private sector and civil society on what new industries are feasible and desirable, and how to achieve them.
- Ensure that policies that they adopt to promote value addition and local content in transition minerals are made in a transparent and accountable way and are

implemented. This will reduce risks of corruption, cronyism and waste of resources, and give a greater chance of delivering positive outcomes.

- Closely monitor how policies to promote value addition and local content are working, and be prepared to abandon those that have failed to focus on reforms that would harness greater strategic opportunities.
- Not expect transition mineral value chains alone to provide all of the economic growth that they need, and consider pursuing other economic opportunities, taking into account the limits to governments' capacity to promote many initiatives simultaneously.
- Not expect all efforts to promote a greater share of transition mineral value chains to work as intended. Industrial policymaking is difficult to get right, and it is normal to have some failed efforts to develop new industries (but still worth trying, as the successes should more than make up for the failures).
- Consider promoting transfers of technology and skills relevant to transition mineral value chains between African countries.¹⁸²
- Guarantee free and protected civic space, allowing stakeholders from across the country to participate freely in debates on politics and policy. This should include restricting the use of strategic lawsuits against public participation (SLAPPs).
- Ensure meaningful consultation and participation for all communities affected by mining. Indigenous peoples' Free, Prior and Informed Consent their right to give or withhold consent must be prioritised and respected, as aligned with the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples.
- Ensure the creation of "no-go zones" to protect people and the environment in high risk areas. Only extract minerals in line with the most rigorous international human rights and environmental standards through meaningful, transparent and gender-responsive mandatory human rights and environmental due diligence. Guarantee effective, independent monitoring of mitigation and corrective measures, including access to justice and effective remedy for all victims of corporate abuses.
- Ensure that national environmental regulators are independent from the companies they regulate.

Development partners (e.g., countries and institutions that provide aid to or trade with Africa) should:

- Support African countries' efforts to capture more value through transition mineral supply chains, where these are realistic. They can do this through:
 - Supporting knowledge including research and development and technology transfer to African firms along the length of transition mineral value chains.
 - Not opposing African countries' sensible use of active industrial policies to capture more of the economic value in global transition mineral value chains.
 - Not using trade policies to make it difficult for African countries to export processed transition mineral products to their markets.
 - Where they use carbon border adjustment mechanisms, taking into account the pollution involved in transporting minerals to another country to be processed.

- Consider providing financing to make greater participation in transition mineral value chains more viable in Africa (e.g., through industrial, infrastructure, skills development, etc.).
- Ensure that their support to value addition initiatives respects the needs of local communities, human rights and the environment.
- Support Africa's efforts to develop regional value chains. When pursuing trade agreements with African countries that are members of customs unions, they should try to sign them with the customs union as a whole rather than individual members, to avoid undermining the political trust that underpins the regional integration process.
- Ensure that their efforts to acquire transition minerals (whether processed or otherwise) from Africa do not contribute to negative side-effects (e.g., the suffering of local communities and/or destruction of the environment in mining or mineral processing areas). In addition, they should do their utmost to ensure that workers in transition mineral value chains and affected communities receive a fair share of economic benefits created by them. Development partners can do this by conducting due diligence of the supply chains through which they source transition minerals, and carefully considering the design of international agreements that encourage international trade in transition minerals and/or govern transition mineral value chains. In doing so, they should listen to perspectives from civil society, communities affected by transition mineral value chains, and organisations representing workers and equity-seeking groups, etc.¹⁸³
- Pursue policies to limit demand for metallic transition minerals, due to the high levels of emissions from metal supply chains.¹⁸⁴ This should not imply slowing the transition away from fossil fuels, which cause far more emissions, but rather encouraging public and private consumption choices to take into account the negative impacts of metals on the climate.
- Contribute to the fight against international tax avoidance, illicit financial flows and corruption, including the mining sector.

Civil society should:

- Push African governments to develop policies to capture a greater share of transition mineral value chains, where this would carry economic benefits for the country in question
- Hold governments to account over how they do this, ensuring that policymaking is wellreasoned, inclusive, participatory and that both policymaking and policy delivery are transparent and accountable.
- Push African governments to reinforce protection of human rights, including Indigenous people's rights, and the environment, and address corruption and integrity risks, including in transition mineral value chains.
- Campaign to protect and enhance civic space so that stakeholders across Africa can freely participate in discussions on politics and policy; this should include campaigning for restrictions on SLAPPs

• Put pressure on development partners to support African countries to experience greater participation in transition mineral value chains, through knowledge and technology transfer, and through not opposing the sensible use of active industrial policies to promote these activities.

Annexes

Annex I – commodity codes used for transition mineral exports

Used Harmonized System 2022 classification. N.B.: We omit some products derived from minerals that our data indicates are not currently produced in Africa.

HS 2022 (Selected Classification)

250410 -- Graphite; natural, in powder or in flakes

250490 -- Graphite; natural, in other forms, excluding powder or flakes

260200 -- Manganese ores and concentrates, including ferruginous manganese ores and concentrates with a manganese content of 20% or more, calculated on the dry weight

260300 -- Copper ores and concentrates

260400 -- Nickel ores and concentrates

2605 -- Cobalt ores and concentrates

260800 -- Zinc ores and concentrates

2609 -- Tin ores and concentrates

2610 -- Chromium ores and concentrates

261100 -- Tungsten ores and concentrates

261510 -- Zirconium ores and concentrates

261590 -- Niobium, tantalum, vanadium ores and concentrates

261610 -- Silver ores and concentrates

262011 -- Slag, ash and residues; (not from the manufacture of iron or steel), containing mainly zinc, hard zinc spelter

262019 -- Slag, ash and residues; (not from the manufacture of iron or steel), containing mainly zinc, other than hard zinc spelter

262030 -- Slag, ash and residues; (not from the manufacture of iron or steel), containing mainly copper

280450 -- Boron; tellurium

280480 -- Arsenic

2810 -- Oxides of boron; boric acids

281000 -- Oxides of boron; boric acids

281700 -- Zinc; oxide and peroxide

- 2819 -- Chromium oxides and hydroxides
- 282010 -- Manganese dioxide
- 282090 -- Manganese oxides; excluding manganese dioxide
- 2822 -- Cobalt oxides and hydroxides; commercial cobalt oxides
- 282520 -- Lithium oxide and hydroxide
- 282530 -- Vanadium oxides and hydroxides
- 282540 -- Nickel oxides and hydroxides
- 282550 -- Copper oxides and hydroxides
- 282560 -- Germanium oxides and zirconium dioxide
- 282735 -- Chlorides; of nickel
- 282741 -- Chloride oxides and chloride hydroxides; of copper
- 283324 -- Sulphates; of nickel
- 283325 -- Sulphates; of copper
- 283691 -- Carbonates; lithium carbonate
- 284321 -- Silver compounds; silver nitrates
- 284329 -- Silver compounds; excluding silver nitrates
- 284520 -- Boron enriched in boron-10 and its compounds
- 284530 -- Lithium enriched in lithium-6 and its compounds

290433 -- Derivatives of hydrocarbons; lithium perfluorooctane sulphonate, whether or not halogenated

320642 -- Colouring matter; lithopone and other pigments and preparations based on zinc sulphide

380120 -- Graphite; colloidal or semi-colloidal

381511 -- Catalysts, supported; reaction initiators, reaction accelerators and catalytic preparations, with nickel or nickel compounds as the active substance, n.e.c. or included

- 710610 -- Metals; silver powder
- 710691 -- Metals; silver, unwrought, (but not powder)
- 710692 -- Metals; silver, semi-manufactured
- 710700 -- Base metals clad with silver; not further worked than semi-manufactured
- 711011 -- Metals; platinum, unwrought or in powder form
- 711019 -- Metals; platinum, semi-manufactured

- 711021 -- Metals; palladium, unwrought or in powder form
- 711029 -- Metals; palladium, semi-manufactured
- 711041 -- Metals; iridium, osmium, ruthenium, unwrought or in powder form
- 711049 -- Metals; iridium, osmium, ruthenium, semi-manufactured

711292 -- Waste and scrap of precious metals; of platinum, including metal clad with platinum but excluding sweepings containing other precious metals

- 711510 -- Metal; catalysts in the form of wire cloth or grill, of platinum
- 740100 -- Copper mattes; cement copper (precipitated copper)
- 740200 -- Copper; unrefined, copper anodes for electrolytic refining
- 740312 -- Copper; refined, unwrought, wire-bars
- 740313 -- Copper; refined, unwrought, billets
- 740319 -- Copper; refined, unwrought, n.e.c. in item no. 7403.1
- 740321 -- Copper; copper-zinc base alloys (brass) unwrought
- 740322 -- Copper; copper-tin base alloys (bronze) unwrought
- 740400 -- Copper; waste and scrap
- 740500 -- Copper; master alloys of copper
- 740610 -- Copper; powders of non-lamellar structure
- 740620 -- Copper; powders of lamellar structure, flakes
- 740710 -- Copper; bars, rods and profiles, of refined copper
- 740721 -- Copper; bars, rods and profiles, of copper-zinc base alloys (brass)
- 740729 -- Copper; bars, rods and profiles, of copper alloys (other than copper-zinc base alloys)

740819 -- Copper; wire, of refined copper, of which the maximum cross-sectional dimension is 6mm or less

740821 -- Copper; wire, of copper-zinc base alloys (brass)

740822 -- Copper; wire, of copper-nickel base alloys (cupro-nickel) or copper-nickel-zinc base alloys (nickel silver)

740829 -- Copper; wire, of copper alloys (other than copper-zinc base alloys, copper-nickel base alloys or copper-nickel-zinc base alloys)

740911 -- Copper; strip, of a thickness exceeding 0.15mm, of refined copper, in coils

740919 -- Copper; plates and sheets, of a thickness exceeding 0.15mm, of refined copper, not in coils

740921 -- Copper; strip, of a thickness exceeding 0.15mm, of copper-zinc base alloys (brass), in coils

740929 -- Copper; plates and sheets, of a thickness exceeding 0.15mm, of copper-zinc base alloys (brass), not in coils

740931 -- Copper; strip, of a thickness exceeding 0.15mm, of copper-tin base alloys (bronze), in coils

740939 -- Copper; plates and sheets, of a thickness exceeding 0.15mm, of copper-tin base alloys, not in coils

740940 -- Copper; plates, sheets and strip, of a thickness exceeding 0.15mm, of coppernickel base alloys (cupro-nickel) or copper-nickel-zinc base alloys (nickel silver)

740990 -- Copper; plates, sheets and strip, of a thickness exceeding 0.15mm, of copper alloys (other than copper-zinc base alloys, copper-tin base alloys, copper-nickel base alloys or copper-nickel-zinc base alloys)

741011 -- Copper; foil, not backed, of a thickness not exceeding 0.15mm, of refined copper

741012 -- Copper; foil, not backed, of a thickness not exceeding 0.15mm, of copper alloys

741021 -- Copper; foil, backed with paper, paperboard, plastics or similar backing material, of a thickness (excluding any backing) not exceeding 0.15mm, of refined copper

741022 -- Copper; foil, backed with paper, paperboard, plastics or similar backing material, of a thickness (excluding any backing) not exceeding 0.15mm, of copper alloys

741110 -- Copper; tubes and pipes, of refined copper

741121 -- Copper; tubes and pipes, of copper-zinc base alloys (brass)

741122 -- Copper; tubes and pipes, of copper-nickel base alloys (cupro-nickel) or coppernickel-zinc base alloys (nickel silver)

741129 -- Copper; tubes and pipes, of copper alloys (other than copper-zinc, copper-nickel base alloys (cupro-nickel) or copper-nickel-zinc base alloys (nickel-silver))

741210 -- Copper; tube or pipe fittings (e.g. couplings, elbows, sleeves) of refined copper

741220 -- Copper; tube or pipe fittings (e.g. couplings, elbows, sleeves) of copper alloys

741300 -- Copper; stranded wire, cables, plaited bands and the like, not electrically insulated

741510 -- Copper; nails and tacks, drawing pins, staples and similar articles of copper, or of iron or steel with copper heads

741521 -- Copper; washers, (including spring washers), not threaded

741529 -- Copper; rivets, cotters, cotter-pins and similar articles, not threaded

741533 -- Copper; screws, bolts and nuts, threaded

741539 -- Copper; articles n.e.c. in heading no. 7415

741810 -- Copper; table, kitchen or other household articles and parts thereof; pot scourers and scouring or polishing pads, gloves and the like

- 741820 -- Copper; sanitary ware and parts thereof
- 741920 -- Copper; cast, moulded, stamped or forged, but not further worked
- 741980 -- Copper; articles thereof n.e.c. in chapter 74
- 750110 -- Nickel; nickel mattes
- 750120 -- Nickel; oxide sinters and other intermediate products of nickel metallurgy
- 750210 -- Nickel; unwrought, not alloyed
- 750220 -- Nickel; unwrought, alloys
- 750300 -- Nickel; waste and scrap
- 750400 -- Nickel; powders and flakes
- 750511 -- Nickel; bars, rods and profiles, not alloyed
- 750512 -- Nickel; bars, rods and profiles, of nickel alloys
- 750521 -- Nickel; wire, not alloyed
- 750522 -- Nickel; wire, of nickel alloys
- 750610 -- Nickel; plates, sheets, strip and foil, not alloyed
- 750620 -- Nickel; plates, sheets, strip and foil, of nickel alloys
- 750711 -- Nickel; tubes and pipes, not alloyed
- 750712 -- Nickel; tubes and pipes, of nickel alloys
- 750720 -- Nickel; tube and pipe fittings
- 750810 -- Nickel; cloth, grill and netting, of nickel wire
- 750890 -- Nickel; articles thereof n.e.c. in item no. 7508.1
- 790111 -- Zinc; unwrought, (not alloyed), containing by weight 99.99% or more of zinc
- 790112 -- Zinc; unwrought, (not alloyed), containing by weight less than 99.99% of zinc
- 790120 -- Zinc; unwrought, alloys
- 790200 -- Zinc; waste and scrap
- 790310 -- Zinc dust
- 790390 -- Zinc; powders and flakes
- 790400 -- Zinc; bars, rods, profiles and wire
- 790500 -- Zinc; plates, sheets, strip and foil

790700 -- Zinc; articles n.e.c. in chapter 79

80 -- Tin; articles thereof

810110 -- Tungsten (wolfram); articles thereof, including waste and scrap, powders

810194 -- Tungsten (wolfram); unwrought, including bars and rods obtained simply by sintering

810196 -- Tungsten (wolfram); wire

810197 -- Tungsten (wolfram); waste and scrap

810199 -- Tungsten (wolfram); articles n.e.c. in heading no. 8101

810320 -- Tantalum; unwrought, including bars and rods obtained simply by sintering, powders

810330 -- Tantalum; waste and scrap

810391 -- Tantalum; crucibles

810399 -- Tantalum; articles n.e.c. in heading no. 8103

8105 -- Cobalt; mattes and other intermediate products of cobalt metallurgy, cobalt and articles thereof, including waste and scrap

810921 -- Zirconium; unwrought, powders, containing less than 1 part hafnium to 500 parts zirconium by weight

810929 -- Zirconium; unwrought, powders, containing not less than 1 part hafnium to 500 parts zirconium by weight

810931 -- Zirconium; waste and scrap, containing less than 1 part hafnium to 500 parts zirconium by weight

810939 -- Zirconium; waste and scrap, containing not less than 1 part hafnium to 500 parts zirconium by weight

810991 -- Zirconium; other than unwrought, n.e.c. in heading no. 8109, containing less than 1 part hafnium to 500 parts zirconium by weight

810999 -- Zirconium; other than unwrought, n.e.c. in heading no. 8109, containing not less than 1 part hafnium to 500 parts zirconium by weight

811100 -- Manganese; articles thereof, including waste and scrap

8112 -- Beryllium, chromium, hafnium, rhenium, thallium, cadmium, germanium, vanadium, gallium, indium and niobium (columbium), articles of these metals, including waste and scrap

811221 -- Chromium and articles thereof; unwrought chromium, powders

811222 -- Chromium; waste and scrap

811229 -- Chromium and articles thereof; wrought other than waste and scrap

811269 -- Cadmium; other than waste and scrap

811292 -- Gallium, germanium, indium, niobium (columbium) and vanadium; articles thereof, unwrought, including waste and scrap, powders

811299 -- Gallium, germanium, indium, niobium (columbium) and vanadium; articles thereof, other than unwrought including waste and scrap and powders

850610 -- Cells and batteries; primary, manganese dioxide

850640 -- Cells and batteries; primary, silver oxide

850650 -- Cells and batteries; primary, lithium

850660 -- Cells and batteries; primary, air-zinc

850730 -- Electric accumulators; nickel-cadmium, including separators, whether or not rectangular (including square)

850750 -- Electric accumulators; nickel-metal hydride, including separators, whether or not rectangular (including square)

850760 -- Electric accumulators; lithium-ion, including separators, whether or not rectangular (including square)

853221 -- Electrical capacitors; fixed, tantalum

853921 -- Lamps; filament, (excluding ultra-violet or infra-red), tungsten halogen

854411 -- Insulated electric conductors; winding wire, of copper

Contains Minerals UK Statistics Data courtesy of BGS © UKRI World mineral statistics data | Statistics & Commodities | MineralsUK (bgs.ac.uk)'

Annex II: Methodology used to estimate economic benefits of adding value to a greater share of Africa's energy transition minerals

We use the following steps to produce these estimates.

1. **Export potential**: We collect data from the International Trade Centre's Export Potential Map on where African countries have potential to export more processed goods based on energy transition minerals.¹⁸⁵ These are disaggregated at the product level (6- level according to the Harmonized System classification). For South Africa, we only cover the 40 most important sectors since there are so many opportunities that it was difficult to extract them from the database. It should be noted that these estimates do not necessarily represent opportunities for African countries to add more value to their *own* transition minerals, but could reflect opportunities to add value to minerals imported from elsewhere.

The Export Potential Map estimates potential to expand exports based on 3 main factors: demand, supply and ease of trade. In particular, for demand, it considers how global demand for different products is forecast to evolve to 2028. For supply, it considers where the producing country is 'underperforming' in certain markets relative to its current global market share. The Map assumes that the country has the potential to increase its market share in each of those markets to match its current global market share. Finally, it considers various indicators of the ease of trading between the producing country and different markets around the world. Decreux et al. (n.d.) provide details of the methodology.¹⁸⁶

It is worth noting that the level of production of minerals could constrain exports of processed goods. This is because, if the country runs out of minerals to which it can add more value and would have to import them from elsewhere to expand its exports of processed goods, which could be too costly for it to do competitively, meaning that it can no longer export the processed goods in question. The Export Potential Map methodology does not take into account the current level of production of minerals, or mineral reserves that are ready for extraction, in determining export potential for products based on minerals, which is a limitation of the methodology.¹⁸⁷

Readers should also take into account that the International Trade Centre's data on export potential could include some products that the country does not produce but only re-exports. While ITC has attempted to adjust for this and eliminate such cases (as explained in Decreux et al., n.d.), this may not have been fully successful.¹⁸⁸ As a result, we make further adjustments, as follows. Where a country reports re-exports, but does not report exporting the product in question as a 'domestic export' (where 'domestic exports' are given by exports minus re-exports), we consider that it does not in fact export the product and remove it. For the export of refined or smelted but unwrought metals, we check the British Geological Survey's World Mineral Statistics data¹⁸⁹ on whether the exporting country carries out these processes. If the data indicates that it does not do so as of 2021 (the latest year available at the time of writing), then we remove this opportunity from consideration.

Impact of value addition on GDP: Using the data obtained under step 1, for each country – sector pair, we multiply the dollar value of export potential by the corresponding share of African value added in total value added for exports by that sector from that country in 2022, obtained from the UNCTAD-Eora Global Value Chain Database, with several adjustments to this share detailed as follows.¹⁹⁰

The first adjustment that we make to the data is to exclude value added imported from fossil fuel-producing African countries (for reasons that will become clear below). This gives us the share of African countries in creating these exports, excluding fossil fuels. However, if we use this multiplier without further adjustments, we would be including value already added under existing levels of value addition. To estimate the share of additional value added that results from African producers ascending the value chain, we make the assumption that all value added from the mining and guarrying sector that is exported from the country is exported either in the form of unprocessed mineral products, or in products from the same sectors where the country has the potential to produce more energy transition minerals.¹⁹¹ Although this assumption may not be entirely correct (as some countries may use African minerals in other products that have undergone further processing), we consider that it is likely to be largely correct given that Africa has a marginal share in the later stages of value chains for energy transition minerals (as shown in section 3 of the present document), so most of the value added from the continent's mining sector is indeed likely to be exported by those sectors from which it currently exports.

On this basis, we assume that we can obtain the additional value added from this sector by starting with the total value added from the country's mining and quarrying sector as a share of the country's total exports of value added, less the share in total exports of value added that comes direct from Africa's mining and quarrying sector (i.e., exports of minerals that have undergone no or only minimal processing). We do not subtract value added from the mining and quarrying sector for fossil fuel producing countries, since the 'mining and quarrying' sector also includes the production of fossil fuels. An exception is South Africa, because it reports separate data for its non-coal mining sector that excludes fossil fuels. For those countries, we instead use the average share of the mining and quarrying sector in total exports for African countries that do *not* produce fossil fuels. We also produce different versions of the estimates where we remove some of these adjustments, for the purposes of comparison.

Our model currently assumes 'constant returns to scale', i.e., that as countries expand their processing of energy transition minerals, they will increase their spending on different inputs in direct proportion to the increase in export value. While it is likely that returns to scale could change (e.g., economies of scale could improve productivity as exports increase, or shortages of skilled workers or electricity could have the opposite effect), we maintained the constant returns to scale assumption because we were not able to obtain data on how the production structure was likely to change with increased scale.

We also considered including the effect of workers moving from other jobs into energy transition mineral value chains. However, we concluded that it would be too difficult to include this in the model. This is because there could be a 'cascade effect', where skilled workers would take jobs in energy transition mineral value chains, and other

slightly less-skilled workers would be hired to fill the jobs that they vacated, and so on, so that the final effect on the labour market would be a reduction in the level of unemployment, so there would be no loss of GDP as a result of their movement into these new roles. In countries with low levels of unemployment (e.g., with 'frictional unemployment' only), it could be the lowest-paid workers who would stop working in those jobs. However, workers in African countries work informally in low-productivity jobs and it might therefore be difficult to estimate the 'lost production' of these workers.

3. Potential job creation: For the number of jobs created, we multiply the dollar value of exports in step 1 by ratio of export value to number of jobs created in the country in question by its manufacturing exports (excluding those created in extractive industries) from the Labor Content of Exports database. For those countries for which there is no data on job intensity of manufacturing exports, we use the simple average of values for those countries with data. Unfortunately we are forced to ignore the jobs that export opportunities in one African country could create in another, as we lack the data to calculate these.

For calculations of job opportunities created, all indicators of value added are taken from the UNCTAD-Eora Global Value Chain database, while all indicators for production and jobs are taken from the World Bank Labor Content of Exports Database.¹⁹² As under item 1. above, the estimates of export opportunities are taken from the ITC's Export Potential Map.^{193,194}

Endnotes

¹ These are Arsenic, Boron, Cadmium, Chromium, Cobalt, Copper, Dysprosium, Gallium, Germanium, Graphite, Hafnium, Indium, Lanthanum, Lead, Lithium, Magnesium, Manganese, Molybdenum, Neodymium, Nickel, Niobium, Platinum Group Metals, Praseodymium, Selenium, Silicon, Silver, Tantalum, Tellurium, Terbium, Tin, Titanium, rare earth elements, Tungsten, Vanadium, Yttrium, Zinc and Zirconium. See 'Critical Minerals Data Explorer', IEA, 11 July 2023, https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/data-tools/critical-minerals-data-explorer. This list does not include some minerals and metals, such as iron ore, which will be used in renewable energy technologies; however this may be because demand for some minerals is not expected to increase, despite their use in renewable energy, due to increased recycling or declining demand from China. Scott Nyquist, Matt Rogers, and Jonathan Woetzel, 'The Future Is Now: How to Win the Resource Revolution', McKinsey Sustainability, 12 October 2016, https://www.mckinsey.com/capabilities/sustainability/our-insights/the-future-is-now-how-to-winthe-resource-revolution.

² Clara Galeazzi, Jevgenijs Steinbuks, and James Cust, 'Africa's Resource Export Opportunities and the Global Energy Transition', LiveWire 2020, no. 111 (2020), <u>https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/431621608028194772/pdf/Africa-s-Resource-Export-Opportunities-and-the-Global-Energy-Transition.pdf</u>

³ See annex I for a list of commodity codes used.

⁴ Author's analysis of IEA, 'Critical Minerals Dataset' (Paris: IEA, May 2024), <u>https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/data-product/critical-minerals-dataset</u>, Licence: CC BY 4.0 and IEA, 'Critical Minerals Demand Dataset' (IEA website, July 2023),

https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/data-product/critical-minerals-demand-dataset; the latter dataset is used for platinum-group metals only. The 'Stated Policies' scenario is based on government policies as of August 2023. For further details please see IEA, 'Global Energy and Climate Model' (Paris: IEA, 2023), https://www.iea.org/reports/global-energy-and-climate-model, Licence: CC BY 4.0. Projections for platinum-group metals are based on an older version of the scenario using less up-to-date information about government policies.

⁵ Author's analysis based on This graph is based on an older version of the Stated Policies Scenario that included less up-to-date information on government policies.

⁶ James Cust and Albert Zeufack, Africa's Resource Future: Harnessing Natural Resources for Economic Transformation during the Low-Carbon Transition (World Bank Publications, 2023), 101.

⁷ Resource-rich countries that experienced slower growth after 2016 included Chad, Congo, Liberia and Nigeria. Author's analysis based on 'GDP Growth (Annual%)', The World Bank | Data, accessed 16 February 2024, <u>https://data.worldbank.org</u>. List of resource-rich countries in sub-Saharan Africa is taken from 'Resource Rich Sub-Saharan Africa Countries', The World Bank | Data, accessed 16 February 2024, <u>https://data.worldbank.org</u>. Commodity price trends based on International Monetary Fund, 'Global Price Index of All Commodities', FRED, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis (FRED, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, 2016), <u>https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/PALLENFINDEXQ</u>.

⁸ Papa Daouda Diene et al., 'Triple Win: How Mining Can Benefit Africa's Citizens, Their Environment and the Energy Transition' (Natural Resource Governance Institute, 2 November 2022), <u>http://resourcegovernance.org/publications/triple-win-mining-africa-environment-energy-transition</u>.

⁹ Andrew Bauer and William Davis, 'Are Countries Ready to Manage Revenues from Transition Minerals?', Natural Resource Governance Institute (blog), 7 February 2024, <u>http://resourcegovernance.org/articles/are-countries-ready-manage-revenues-transition-minerals</u>.

¹⁰ Magali Dauvin and David Guerreiro, 'The Paradox of Plenty: A Meta-Analysis', World Development 94 (June 2017): 212–31, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.01.009</u>.

¹¹ Mohamued Elyas Abdulahi, Yang Shu, and Muhammad Asif Khan, 'Resource Rents, Economic Growth, and the Role of Institutional Quality: A Panel Threshold Analysis', Resources Policy 61 (June 2019): 293–303, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2019.02.011</u>.

¹² Rosemary S. Taylor, 'The Fiscal Effects of Natural Resource Dependency in Sub-Saharan Africa', Natural Resources Forum n/a, no. n/a (13 January 2024): 1–23, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1477-8947.12400</u>.

¹³ See e.g., Economic Commission for Africa, Making the Most of Africa's Commodities: Industrializing for Growth, Jobs and Economic Transformation, Economic Report on Africa 2013 (Addis Ababa, 2013).

¹⁴ Nguyen Phuc Canh and Su Dinh Thanh, 'The Dynamics of Export Diversification, Economic Complexity and Economic Growth Cycles: Global Evidence', Foreign Trade Review 57, no. 3 (1 August 2022): 234–60, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0015732520970441</u>; Vishal Sarin, Sushanta Kumar Mahapatra, and Naveen Sood, 'Export Diversification and Economic Growth: A Review and Future Research Agenda', Journal of Public Affairs 22, no. 3 (1 August 2022): e2524, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2524</u>; and Viktor Stojkoski, Philipp Koch, and César A. Hidalgo, 'Multidimensional Economic Complexity and Inclusive Green Growth', Communications Earth & Environment 4, no. 1 (21 April 2023): 130, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s43247-023-00770-0</u>.

¹⁵ Mosab I. Tabash, Ekundayo Peter Mesagan, and Umar Farooq, 'Dynamic Linkage between Natural Resources, Economic Complexity, and Economic Growth: Empirical Evidence from Africa', Resources Policy 78 (September 2022): 102865, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2022.102865</u>. And Ekundayo Peter Mesagan and Xuan Vinh Vo, 'The Importance of Economic Complexity in the Resource-Growth Discourse: Empirical Evidence from Africa', Journal of the Knowledge Economy, 20 March 2023, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13132-023-01227-7</u>.

¹⁶ Joseph E. Stiglitz, 'From Manufacturing-Led Export Growth to a Twenty-First Century Inclusive Growth Strategy: Explaining the Demise of a Successful Growth Model and What to Do about It', in Inequality in the Developing World, ed. Carlos Gradín, Murray Leibbrandt, and Finn Tarp (Oxford University Press, 2021), 0, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198863960.003.0012</u>; E. Gyimah-Boadi and Joseph Asunka, 'THE FUTURE AFRICANS WANT: When Optimism Is Power' (European Union Institute for Security Studies (EUISS), 2021), 2, <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep34057</u>.

¹⁷ Dani Rodrik and Joseph E. Stiglitz, 'A New Growth Strategy for Developing Nations', January 2024, <u>https://drodrik.scholar.harvard.edu/sites/scholar.harvard.edu/files/dani-</u> <u>rodrik/files/a_new_growth_strategy_for_developing_nations.pdf</u>.

¹⁸ International Energy Agency, 'The Role of Critical Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions' (IEA Publications, May 2021), 192, <u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/ffd2a83b-8c30-4e9d-980a-52b6d9a86fdc/TheRoleofCriticalMineralsinCleanEnergyTransitions.pdf</u>.

¹⁹ Manley, Heller, and Davis, 'No Time to Waste', 33–34.

²⁰ GlobalData Thematic Intelligence, 'The Cost of Green Energy: Lithium Mining's Impact on Nature and People', Mining Technology, 30 October 2023, <u>https://www.mining-technology.com/analyst-comment/lithium-mining-negative-environmental-impact/</u>.

²¹ Etienne Berthet et al., 'Assessing the Social and Environmental Impacts of Critical Mineral Supply Chains for the Energy Transition in Europe', SSRN Scholarly Paper (Rochester, NY, 23 October 2023), <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4610350</u>.

²² UN ESCAP, 'Implications of the Energy Transition on Sustainable Critical Minerals Development in Asia and the Pacific Aligning Extractive Industries with the Sustainable Development Goals' (Bangkok: UN ESCAP, 2023), 32, <u>https://hdl.handle.net/20.500.12870/5665</u>.

²³ UN ESCAP, 31.

²⁴ Susan Park, 'Critical Minerals for the Future', The University of Sydney, 1 November 2023, <u>https://www.sydney.edu.au/sydney-environment-institute/news/2023/11/01/critical-minerals-for-the-future.html</u>.

²⁵ 'Soil Pollution a Risk to Our Health and Food Security', UNEP, 12 April 2020, <u>http://www.unep.org/news-and-stories/story/soil-pollution-risk-our-health-and-food-security</u>.

²⁶ International Energy Agency, 'The Role of Critical Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions'.

²⁷ Transparency International, <u>https://www.transparency.org/en/our-priorities/extractive-industries</u>

²⁸ Henry Legge et al., 'Creating the Zero-Carbon Mine', McKinsey & Company, 29 June 2021, <u>www.mckinsey.com/industries/metals-and-mining/our-insights/creating-the-zero-carbon-mine</u>.

²⁹ Shahjadi Hisan Farjana, Nazmul Huda, and M.A. Parvez Mahmud, 'Life Cycle Assessment of Cobalt Extraction Process', Journal of Sustainable Mining 18, no. 3 (1 August 2019): 150–61, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsm.2019.03.002</u>.

³⁰ John T. Williams et al., 'Toxicity in the Supply Chain: Cobalt, Orthopaedics, and the Democratic Republic of the Congo', The Lancet Planetary Health 5, no. 6 (1 June 2021): e327–28, https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(21)00057-7.

³¹ International Energy Agency, 'The Role of Critical Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions', 192.

³² IRENA and AfDB, 'Renewable Energy Market Analysis: Africa and Its Regions' (Abu Dhabi and Abidjan, 2022), <u>https://www.irena.org/-</u>

/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2022/Jan/IRENA_Market_Africa_2022.pdf?la=en&hash=BC8D EB8130CF9CC1C28FFE87ECBA519B32076013.

³³ World Meteorological Organization, 'State of the Climate in Africa 2019' (World Meteorological Organization, 2020),

<u>https://library.wmo.int/viewer/57196/download?file=1253_en_%282%29.pdf&type=pdf&navigator=1;</u> World Meteorological Organization, 'Africa Suffers Disproportionately from Climate Change', reliefweb, 4 September 2023, <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/world/africa-suffers-disproportionately-climate-change</u>.

³⁴ Florent Baarsch et al., 'Climate Change Impacts on Africa's Economic Growth' (African Development Bank, 2019), <u>https://www.afdb.org/sites/default/files/documents/publications/afdb-economics_of_climate_change_in_africa.pdf</u>.

³⁵ International Energy Agency, 'The Role of Critical Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions'.

³⁶ Katharine Ricke et al., 'Country-Level Social Cost of Carbon', Nature Climate Change 8, no. 10 (October 2018): 895–900, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0282-y</u>.

³⁷ Manley, Heller, and Davis, 'No Time to Waste', 35.

³⁸ Rickard Arvidsson, Mudit Chordia, and Anders Nordelöf, 'Quantifying the Life-Cycle Health Impacts of a Cobalt-Containing Lithium-Ion Battery', The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment 27, no. 8 (1 August 2022): 1106–18, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-022-02084-3</u>.

³⁹ Célestin Banza Lubaba Nkulu et al., 'Sustainability of Artisanal Mining of Cobalt in DR Congo', Nature Sustainability 1, no. 9 (1 September 2018): 495–504, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-018-0139-4</u>.

⁴⁰ Farjana, Huda, and Mahmud, 'Life Cycle Assessment of Cobalt Extraction Process'.

⁴¹ Timothy Laing and Avanti Nisha Pinto, 'Artisanal and Small-Scale Mining and the Low-Carbon Transition: Challenges and Opportunities', Environmental Science & Policy 149 (November 2023): 103563, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2023.103563</u>.

⁴² Gavin Hilson, 'Small-Scale Mining in Africa: Tackling Pressing Environmental Problems with Improved Strategy', The Journal of Environment & Development 11, no. 2 (2002): 149–74.

⁴³ Philip Schütte and Uwe Näher, 'Tantalum Supply from Artisanal and Small-Scale Mining: A Mineral Economic Evaluation of Coltan Production and Trade Dynamics in Africa's Great Lakes Region', Resources Policy 69 (1 December 2020): 101896, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2020.101896</u>.

⁴⁴ Franklin W. Schwartz, Sangsuk Lee, and Thomas H. Darrah, 'A Review of the Scope of Artisanal and Small-Scale Mining Worldwide, Poverty, and the Associated Health Impacts', GeoHealth 5, no. 1 (1 January 2021): e2020GH000325, <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2020GH000325</u>.

⁴⁵ Willison Mutagwaba et al., 'Artisanal and Small-Scale Mining in Tanzania–Evidence to Inform an "Action Dialogue" (London: International Institute for Environment and Development, 2018), <u>https://www.iied.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/migrate/16641IIED.pdf</u>.

⁴⁶ Berthet et al., 'Assessing the Social and Environmental Impacts of Critical Mineral Supply Chains for the Energy Transition in Europe'.

⁴⁷ UN ESCAP, 'Implications of the Energy Transition on Sustainable Critical Minerals Development in Asia and the Pacific', 36.

⁴⁸ Caroline Avan, Natalia Daza Niño, and Emil Rasu Sirén Gualinga, 'Transition Minerals Tracker: 2024 Analysis' (Business & Human Rights Resource Centre, May 2024), <u>https://media.business-humanrights.org/media/documents/2024_Transition_Minerals_Tracker_EN.pdf</u>.

⁴⁹Diene et al., 'Triple Win.'

⁵⁰ Diene et al.

⁵¹ Author's analysis of National Minerals Information Center, 'Graphite Statistics and Information', USGS, accessed 15 February 2024, <u>https://www.usgs.gov/centers/national-minerals-information-center/graphite-statistics-and-information</u>.

⁵² ITC Trade and Market Intelligence Section, 'Export Potential', Export Potential Map Spot Export Opportunities for Trade Development, accessed 5 January 2024, <u>https://exportpotential.intracen.org/en/products/gap-</u>

<u>chart?fromMarker=re&exporter=1&toMarker=w&market=w&whatMarker=k</u>. N.B.: this graphic shows export potential based on ITC's assessment of where individual African countries, that already produce these products, could increase their exports. It does not consider where countries could move into producing products that they do not currently produce.

⁵³ Yvan Decreux et al., 'Export Potential and Diversification Assessments' (International Trade Centre), accessed 30 January 2024, 6-10, <u>https://umbraco.exportpotential.intracen.org/media/cklh2pi5/epa-methodology_230627.pdf</u>.

⁵⁴ Antonio Andreoni and Elvis Avenyo, 'Critical Minerals and Routes to Diversification in Africa: Linkages, Pulling Dynamics and Opportunities in Medium-High Tech Supply Chains' (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, August 2023), 16-17, <u>https://unctad.org/system/files/non-official-</u> <u>document/edar2023_BP1_en.pdf</u>.

⁵⁵ Author's analysis of 'Mineral Commodity Summaries 2024', Report, Mineral Commodity Summaries (Reston, VA, 2024), USGS Publications Warehouse, <u>https://doi.org/10.3133/mcs2024</u>.

⁵⁶ Author's analysis of 'Mineral Commodity Summaries 2024'.

⁵⁷ Author's analysis of 'Mineral Commodity Summaries 2024'.

⁵⁸ N E Idoine et al., WORLD MINERAL PRODUCTION 2017–21 (Keyworth, Nottingham: British Geological Survey, 2023), 49 45, 71-2, <u>https://nora.nerc.ac.uk/id/eprint/534316/1/WMP_2017_2021_FINAL.pdf</u>.

⁵⁹ Andreoni and Avenyo, 'Critical Minerals and Routes to Diversification in Africa: Linkages', 17.

⁶⁰ Author's analysis based on United Nations, 'UN Comtrade Database' (comtrade.un.org), accessed 9 January 2024,

<u>comtradeplus.un.org/TradeFlow?Frequency=A&Flows=X&CommodityCodes=TOTAL&Partners=0&Reporters=all&period=2022&AggregateBy=none&BreakdownMode=plus</u>. And UNCTAD, 'UNCTAD|STAT' (UNCTAD website), accessed 9 January 2024,

<u>https://unctadstat.unctad.org/datacentre/dataviewer/US.GDPTotal</u>. N.B.: This excludes products further down the value chain that use these minerals. However, as shown below, there is very little manufacturing of such products in Africa.

⁶¹ This number includes Hong Kong, China.

⁶² Author's analysis based on United Nations, 'UN Comtrade Database' (comtrade.un.org), accessed 5 January 2024,

<u>comtradeplus.un.org/TradeFlow?Frequency=A&Flows=X&CommodityCodes=TOTAL&Partners=0&Reporters=all&period=2022&AggregateBy=none&BreakdownMode=plus</u>. Accessed via World Bank's World Integrated Trade Solution.

⁶³ Author's analysis of United Nations, 'UN Comtrade Database'.

⁶⁴ UNCTAD, Tackling Illicit Financial Flows for Sustainable Development in Africa, Economic Development in Africa Report 2020 (Geneva: United Nations, 2020), https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/aldcafrica2020_en.pdf.

⁶⁵ United Nations, 'UN Comtrade Database'. Map developed using 'Homepage', FlowmapBlue, accessed 8 January 2024, <u>https://www.flowmap.blue/</u>.

⁶⁶ Hannah Ritchie, 'How Have the World's Energy Sources Changed over the Last Two Centuries?', Our World in Data, 2021, <u>https://ourworldindata.org/global-energy-200-years#article-citation</u>.

⁶⁷ Author's analysis of United Nations, 'UN Comtrade Database'.

⁶⁸ No single country in the 'other' group has experienced increases in transition mineral exports that are close to those seen in DRC, Zambia or South Africa. The increases in transition mineral exports in that group are spread across many countries.

⁶⁹ Author's analysis of IEA, 'Critical Minerals Dataset'.

⁷⁰ Alisa Strobel, 'Sub-Saharan Africa's Role in Global Supply Chain of Critical Minerals for Green Energy Transition | S&P Global', S&P Global Market Intelligence (blog), 8 June 2023, https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/mi/research-analysis/subsaharan-africa-role-in-global-supply-chain-critical-minerals.html.

⁷¹ David Manley, Patrick RP Heller, and William Davis, 'No Time to Waste: Governing Cobalt Amid the Energy Transition' (Natural Resource Governance Institute, 2022), <u>https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/documents/no_time_to_waste_governing_cobalt_a</u>mid_the_energy_transition.pdf.

⁷² Diene et al., 'Triple Win'.

⁷³ Magali Dauvin and David Guerreiro, 'The Paradox of Plenty: A Meta-Analysis', World Development 94 (1 June 2017): 212–31, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.01.009</u>.

⁷⁴Author's analysis based on 'World Mineral Statistics Data' (BGS MineralsUK Centre for sustainable mineral development), accessed 11 January 2024,

https://www2.bgs.ac.uk/mineralsuk/statistics/wms.cfc?method=searchWMS. Edmund Merriman Wise and John Campbell Taylor, 'Nickel Processing - Extraction and Refining', Britannica, accessed 11 January 2024, https://www.britannica.com/technology/nickel-processing/Extraction-and-refining. 'Superfund Research Center Copper Mining and Processing: Processing Copper Ores', The University of Arizona, 13 July 2020, https://superfund.arizona.edu/resources/learning-modules-english/coppermining-and-processing/processing-copper-ores. And United Nations, 'UN Comtrade Database' (comtrade.un.org), accessed 10-12 January 2024,

<u>comtradeplus.un.org/TradeFlow?Frequency=A&Flows=X&CommodityCodes=TOTAL&Partners=0&Reporters=all&period=2022&AggregateBy=none&BreakdownMode=plus</u>. Accessed via World Bank World Integrated Trade Solution.

⁷⁵ N E Idoine et al., WORLD MINERAL PRODUCTION 2017–21, 45, 71-2, https://nora.nerc.ac.uk/id/eprint/534316/1/WMP_2017_2021_FINAL.pdf.

⁷⁶ International Energy Agency, Critical Minerals Market Review 2023, December 2023 (IEA, 2023), 60, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9cdf8f39-en</u>.

⁷⁷ International Energy Agency, 41.

⁷⁸ 'Geopolitics of the Energy Transition: Critical Materials Introduction and Executive Summary Summary for Policymakers', IRENA International Renewable Energy Agency, accessed 12 January 2024, <u>https://www.irena.org/Digital-Report/Geopolitics-of-the-Energy-Transition-Critical-Materials</u>. And author's analysis of 'World Mineral Statistics Data'.

⁷⁹ Idoine et al., WORLD MINERAL PRODUCTION 2017–21, 15.

⁸⁰ David Manley, Patrick RP Heller, and William Davis, 'No Time to Waste: Governing Cobalt Amid the Energy Transition' (Natural Resource Governance Institute, 2022), 28, <u>https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/documents/no_time_to_waste_governing_cobalt_a</u> <u>mid_the_energy_transition.pdf</u>.

⁸¹ Idoine et al., WORLD MINERAL PRODUCTION 2017–21, 15.

⁸² 'Geopolitics of the Energy Transition'.

⁸³ 'Geopolitics of the Energy Transition'.

⁸⁴ Idoine et al., WORLD MINERAL PRODUCTION 2017–21.

⁸⁵ Author's analysis of United Nations, 'UN Comtrade Database' and 'Copper Mining and Processing'.

⁸⁶ Donna Slater, 'Jubilee Achieves Export-Grade Cobalt from Sable Refinery', Mining Weekly, 22 November 2022, <u>https://www.miningweekly.com/article/jubilee-achieves-export-grade-cobalt-from-</u> <u>sable-refinery-2022-11-22</u>; author's analysis of Slater, 'Jubilee Achieves Export-Grade Cobalt from Sable Refinery' and Idoine et al., WORLD MINERAL PRODUCTION 2017–21, 15. Cobalt carbonates need to be further refined before they can be used by manufacturers.

⁸⁷ Author's analysis of United Nations, 'UN Comtrade Database'.

⁸⁸ Author's analysis of United Nations. I assume that imports of raw and intermediate goods are processed further upon importation. Raw and intermediate goods are classified according to the UNCTAD classification available from 'Reference Data', WITS World Integrated Trade Solution, accessed 25 January 2024, <u>https://wits.worldbank.org/referencedata.html</u>.

⁸⁹ Nyasha Nyaungwa, 'Namibia, EU Reach Provisional Deal on Rare Earth Minerals | Reuters', Reuters, 21 October 2022, <u>https://www.reuters.com/markets/commodities/namibia-eu-reach-provisional-deal-rare-earth-minerals-2022-10-20/</u>.

⁹⁰ Edward A. Burrier and Thomas P. Sheehy, 'Challenging China's Grip on Critical Minerals Can Be a Boon for Africa's Future', United States Institute of Peace, 7 June 2023,

<u>https://www.usip.org/publications/2023/06/challenging-chinas-grip-critical-minerals-can-be-boon-africas-future</u>; Guillaume de Brier and Lotte Hoex, 'Critical Minerals and the Need for Equal Partnerships with African Producers', IPIS, accessed 30 January 2024, <u>https://ipisresearch.be/weekly-briefing/critical-minerals-and-the-need-for-equal-partnerships-with-african-producers/</u>.

⁹¹ World Bank, 'COBALT IN THE DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGO Market Analysis' (World Bank, 2021), 5,

https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/099500001312236438/pdf/P1723770a0f57009309205 0c1bddd6a29df.pdf.

⁹² IEA (2021), Share of processing volume by country for selected minerals, 2019, IEA, Paris <u>https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/share-of-processing-volume-by-country-for-selected-minerals-2019</u>, Licence: CC BY 4.0

⁹³ Author's analysis of 'Mineral Commodity Summaries 2024'.

⁹⁴ Sustainable Energy for All, 'Africa Renewable Energy Manufacturing', 5. N.B.: Although some processing occurs elsewhere, graphite refining currently occurs exclusively in China, as noted above.

⁹⁵ 'Geopolitics of the Energy Transition: Critical Materials Introduction and Executive Summary Summary for Policymakers', IRENA International Renewable Energy Agency, accessed 24 January 2024, <u>https://www.irena.org/Digital-Report/Geopolitics-of-the-Energy-Transition-Critical-Materials</u>.

⁹⁶ 'Author's analysis of World Mineral Statistics Data' (BGS MineralsUK Centre for sustainable mineral development), accessed 11 January 2024,

https://www2.bgs.ac.uk/mineralsuk/statistics/wms.cfc?method=searchWMS.

⁹⁷ Author's analysis of 'World Mineral Statistics Data'.

⁹⁸ Jane Nakano, 'The Chinese Dominance of the Global Critical Minerals Supply Chains', The Geopolitics of Critical Minerals Supply Chains (Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS), 2021), JSTOR, 4-5, <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep30033.4</u>.

⁹⁹ Sustainable Energy for All, 'Africa Renewable Energy Manufacturing OPPORTUNITY AND ADVANCEMENT' (Sustainable Energy for All, 2023), 5, <u>https://www.seforall.org/system/files/2023-01/%5BFINAL%5D%202020115_ZOD_SEForAll_AfricanManufacturingReport.pdf;</u> 'Current and Projected Geographical Concentration for Manufacturing Operations for Key Clean Energy Technologies, 2022-2030', IEA, 11 May 2023, <u>https://www.iea.org/data-and-statistics/charts/current-and-projected-geographical-concentration-for-manufacturing-operations-for-key-clean-energy-technologies-2022-2030</u>. ¹⁰⁰ IEA, 'Global Supply Chains of EV Batteries' (Paris: IEA, 2022), 5, <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/global-supply-chains-of-ev-batteries</u>, Licence: CC BY 4.0.

¹⁰¹ Rodrigo Castillo and Caitlin Purdy, 'China's Role in Supplying Critical Minerals for the Global Energy Transition', LTRC Leveraging Transparency to Reduce Corruption (Brookings Institution, 2022), 6, <u>https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/LTRC_ChinaSupplyChain.pdf</u>.

¹⁰² IEA, 'Energy Technology Perspectives 2023' (IEA, January 2023), <u>https://www.iea.org/reports/energy-technology-perspectives-2023/clean-energy-supply-chains-vulnerabilities</u>.

¹⁰³ 'Current and Projected Geographical Concentration for Manufacturing Operations for Key Clean Energy Technologies, 2022-2030'.

¹⁰⁴ International Energy Agency, 'The Role of Critical Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions' (IEA Publications, May 2021), 28, <u>https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/ffd2a83b-8c30-4e9d-980a-52b6d9a86fdc/TheRoleofCriticalMineralsinCleanEnergyTransitions.pdf</u>.

¹⁰⁵ Solar Energy Technologies Office, 'Solar Photovoltaic Technology Basics', Energy.gov, accessed 26 January 2024, <u>https://www.energy.gov/eere/solar/solar-photovoltaic-technology-basics</u>.

¹⁰⁶ 'Global Wind Report 2023', GWEC Global Wind Energy Council, accessed 24 January 2024, <u>https://gwec.net/globalwindreport2023/</u>.

¹⁰⁷Global Wind Energy Council and Boston Consulting Group, 'Mission Critical: Building the Global Wind Energy Supply Chain for a 1.5°C World', 15.

¹⁰⁸ Irma Venter, 'Polarium Opens Lithium-Ion Battery Assembly Plant in Cape Town', Engineering News, 29 April 2022, <u>https://www.engineeringnews.co.za/article/polarium-opens-lithium-ion-battery-assembly-plant-in-cape-town-2022-04-29</u>.

¹⁰⁹ Harry Dempsey, 'Chinese Battery Groups Invest in Morocco to Serve Western Markets', Financial Times, 27 September 2023, sec. Batteries, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/9539f746-82bf-49db-ae87-237196a60c88</u>.

¹¹⁰ UNIDO, 'INDSTAT 4 2023, ISIC Revision 4' (UNIDO Statistics Data Portal), accessed 26 January 2024, <u>https://stat.unido.org/database/INDSTAT%204%202023,%20ISIC%20Revision%204</u>. And UNIDO, 'INDSTAT 4 2023, ISIC Revision 3' (UNIDO Statistics Data Portal), accessed 26 January 2024, <u>https://stat.unido.org/database/INDSTAT%204%202023,%20ISIC%20Revision%203</u>.

¹¹¹ Yvan Decreux et al., 'Export Potential and Diversification Assessments', 6–10.

¹¹² Authors' analysis of ITC Trade and Market Intelligence Section, 'Export Potential', Export Potential Map Spot Export Opportunities for Trade Development, accessed 5 January 2024, <u>https://exportpotential.intracen.org/en/products/gap-</u> <u>chart?fromMarker=re&exporter=1&toMarker=w&market=w&whatMarker=k</u>.

¹¹³ For Angola and São Tomé and Príncipe, ITC's estimates of these countries' export potential was not up-to-date at the time of retrieving the data. This is because both countries were scheduled for graduation from the "least-developed countries" category, which would affect the tariffs that their exports face. The ITC estimates do not take this into account so we have excluded these countries from the calculation of export potential. For South Africa, due to difficulties in retrieving the data for this country from ITC, we focus only on its leading opportunities for that country, so its potential to expand its exports of processed transition mineral products that it already exports could be significantly higher. Also, even if Africa is able to seize all of these opportunities, the continent's exports might not increase by as much as the amounts shown in Figure 21. This is because if African countries take these opportunities by processing to a greater degree minerals that they currently export, then their imports of less-processed minerals would decrease, meaning that the net increase in exports would be less than the amounts shown in Figure 21 or the \$43 bn total.

¹¹⁴ The main opportunities for each of these countries are as follows: DRC - copper and cobalt processing; South Africa - platinum group metal and copper processing; Zambia - copper processing; Republic of Congo - copper processing; Sudan - lead processing.

¹¹⁵ Source: author's calculations, based on GDP impacts estimated above and GDP data from 'GDP (Current US\$)', World Bank Group | Data, accessed 27 June 2024, <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD?skipRedirection=true</u>. We use 2022 GDP data as the denominator.

¹¹⁶ This considers only jobs that each transition mineral processing opportunity would create in those countries in which the opportunity is located. Other jobs could be created in other African countries that supply inputs to the aforementioned processing facilities.

¹¹⁷ Egypt, Morocco and Mauritius also show higher productivity in their manufacturing sectors than the average of African countries for which we have data on jobs created by manufacturing exports.

¹¹⁸ For most countries, the data used to calculate the number of jobs created is missing, so we use averages across countries with data. As a result, we use the same multiplier to calculate numbers of jobs created from a given value of export opportunity for many countries. Exceptions are Egypt, Ethiopia, Mauritius, Morocco, South Africa and Zimbabwe, for which we were able to use country-level data.

¹¹⁹ Decreux et al., 'Export Potential and Diversification Assessments'.

¹²⁰ 'Kobaloni Energy', LinkedIn, accessed 7 March 2024, <u>https://www.linkedin.com/company/kobaloni-energy/about/</u>. And World Bank, 'Democratic Republic of the Congo Country Economic Memorandum Case Study 1: Mining (EV) Value Chains' (Washington, D.C.: World Bank, 2023), <u>https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/099101723140622516/pdf/P17516105e95da0de0a34</u> c0dd670e6f75cf.pdf.

¹²¹ Bloomberg New Energy Finance, 'The Cost of Producing Battery Precursors in the DRC' (Bloomberg New Energy Finance, November 2021), <u>https://assets.bbhub.io/professional/sites/24/BNEF-The-Cost-of-Producing-Battery-Precursors-in-the-DRC_FINAL.pdf</u>.

¹²² Silas Olan'g and Thomas Scurfield, 'The DRC-Zambia Battery Plant: Key Considerations for Governments in 2024' (Natural Resource Governance Institute, 20 December 2023), http://resourcegovernance.org/publications/drc-zambia-battery-plant-key-considerationsgovernments-2024.

¹²³ Diene et al., 'Triple Win'.

¹²⁴ Diene et al.

¹²⁵ Diene et al.

¹²⁶ Antonio Andreoni and Elvis Avenyo, 'Critical Minerals and Routes to Diversification in Africa: Opportunities for Diversification into Batteries and Fuel Cells and Mining Equipment Technologies - The Case of South Africa' (UNCTAD, August 2023), <u>https://unctad.org/system/files/non-officialdocument/edar2023_BP3_en.pdf</u>.

¹²⁷ The full list is antimony, bauxite, chromite, cobalt, copper, graphite, iron ore, lanthanides, lead, lithium, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, niobium, phosphate, platinum scandium, silver, tantalum, tin, titanium, tungsten, vanadium, yttrium, zinc and zircon. This is based on Bauer and Davis, 'Are Countries Ready to Manage Revenues from Transition Minerals?'.

¹²⁸ Thomas Scurfield, personal communication, 2024; Malinne Blomberg, 'Dig Deep to Aim High: How to Use Mining to Unlock Mauritania's Potential', Text, African Development Bank Group (African Development Bank Group, 8 July 2024), <u>https://www.afdb.org/en/news-and-events/dig-deep-aim-high-how-use-mining-unlock-mauritanias-potential-72501</u>.

¹²⁹ Dr Amieyeofori Valentine Felix, 'The Current Energy Transition and the Economies of Mineral Energy Materials (MEM) Exporting Countries: A Case for Nigeria', International Journal of Management and Commerce Innovations 9, no. 2 (2021); Sami Tunji, 'High-Grade Lithium Discovered in Nigeria Attracting Investors - FG', Punch, 7 June 2022, <u>https://punchng.com/high-grade-lithium-discovered-in-nigeria-attracting-investors-fg/</u>.

¹³⁰ 'Nickel', TanzaniaInvest, accessed 9 July 2024, <u>https://www.tanzaniainvest.com/nickel</u>; Lucy Shao, 'Critical Minerals and Energy Transition in Tanzania: A New Dance, Maybe?', policy forum, 14 June 2022, <u>https://www.policyforum-tz.org/blog/2022-06-14/critical-minerals-and-energy-transition-tanzania-new-dance-maybe</u>.

¹³¹ Author, adapted from Bauer and Davis, 'Are Countries Ready to Manage Revenues from Transition Minerals?'. Data reflects proven reserves.

¹³² Andreoni and Avenyo, 'Critical Minerals and Routes to Diversification in Africa: Linkages', 21.

¹³³ Dani Rodrik, Réka Juhász, and Nathan Lane, 'Economists Reconsider Industrial Policy', Project Syndicate, 4 August 2023, <u>https://www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/new-economic-research-more-favorable-to-industrial-policy-by-dani-rodrik-et-al-2023-08</u>. United Nations, Economic Report on Africa 2014 (United Nations, 2014), <u>https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/books/9789210566025</u>.

United Nations and Industrial Development Organization, 'Industrial Development Report 2024. Turning Challenges into Sustainable Solutions. The New Era of Industrial Policy' (Vienna: United Nations Industrial Development Organization, 2024), 48.

¹³⁴ Rodrik and Stiglitz, 'A New Growth Strategy for Developing Nations'; United Nations and Industrial Development Organization, 'Industrial Development Report 2024', 48.

¹³⁵ Rodrik and Stiglitz, 'A New Growth Strategy for Developing Nations', 14; United Nations and Industrial Development Organization, 'Industrial Development Report 2024', 48.

¹³⁶ Rodrik and Stiglitz, 14; UNIDO, 48.

¹³⁷ Reda Cherif and Fuad Hasanov, 'T<u>he Pitfalls of Protectionism: Import Substitution vs. Export-Oriented Industrial Policy</u>', IMF Working Papers 2024, no. 086 (2024): A001; United Nations and Industrial Development Organization, 48.

¹³⁸ Amir Lebdioui and Pavel Bilek, 'Do Forward Linkages Reduce or Worsen Dependency in the Extractive Sector?' (Natural Resource Governance Institute, March 2021), 28.

¹³⁹ United Nations and Industrial Development Organization, 'Industrial Development Report 2024', 55.

¹⁴⁰ Diene et al., 'Triple Win.'.

¹⁴¹Sebastian Beer et al., 'How to Evaluate Tax Expenditures', IMF How To Notes 2022, no. 005 (2022): A001, <u>https://doi.org/10.5089/9798400221507.061.A001</u>; Hania Kronfol and Victor Steenbergen, 'Evaluating the Costs and Benefits of Corporate Tax Incentives Methodological Approaches and Policy Considerations', In Focus Finance, Competitiveness & Innovation Investment Climate (The World Bank Group, 2020), 3, <u>https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/180341583476704729/pdf/Evaluatingthe-Costs-and-Benefits-of-Corporate-Tax-Incentives-Methodological-Approaches-and-Policy-Considerations.pdf; Iain Steel, 'Tax Incentives in Mining: Minimising Risks to Revenue Supplementary</u> Guidance: How to Use Financial Modelling to Estimate the Cost of Tax Incentives' (International Institute for Sustainable Development, 2018), <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412963893.n343</u>.

¹⁴² Gamal Ibrahim et al., 'Economic Governance Report II A Framework for Assessing and Reporting Tax Expenditures in Africa' (Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: Economic Commission for Africa and African Tax Administration Forum, 2024),

https://repository.uneca.org/bitstream/handle/10855/50021/b12040423.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=

¹⁴³ Gamal Ibrahim et al., 'Economic Governance Report II'.

¹⁴⁴ Ibrahim et al., 7; Public Governance and Territorial Development Directorate Committee Working Party of Senior Budget Officials, 'Best Practice Guidelines -- Off Budget and Tax Expenditures' (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 19 May 2004), 13–14, <u>https://one.oecd.org/document/gov/pgc/sbo(2004)6/en/pdf</u>.

¹⁴⁵ Howell H Zee, Janet G Stotsky, and Eduardo Ley, 'Tax Incentives for Business Investment: A Primer for Policy Makers in Developing Countries', World Development 30, no. 9 (1 September 2002): 1497 – 1516, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-750X(02)00050-5</u>; Ibrahim et al., 'Economic Governance Report II'; Olumuyiwa Olamade and Oluwasola Oni, 'Manufacturing and Economic Growth in Africa: A Panel Test of Kaldor's First Growth Law', Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development 7, no. 22 (2016): 126.

¹⁴⁶ Lebdioui and Bilek, 'Do Forward Linkages Reduce or Worsen Dependency in the Extractive Sector?',28.

¹⁴⁷ Lebdioui and Bilek, 'Do Forward Linkages Reduce or Worsen Dependency in the Extractive Sector?'; Olle Östensson, 'Promoting Downstream Processing: Resource Nationalism or Industrial Policy?', Mineral Economics 32, no. 2 (1 July 2019): 205–12, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13563-019-00170-x</u>.

¹⁴⁸ Östensson, 'Promoting Downstream Processing'.

¹⁴⁹ Östensson, 'Promoting Downstream Processing'.

¹⁵⁰ Manley, Heller, and Davis, '<u>No Time to Waste</u>', 33–34.

¹⁵¹ UN ESCAP, 'Implications of the Energy Transition on Sustainable Critical Minerals Development in Asia and the Pacific Aligning Extractive Industries with the Sustainable Development Goals',2023, 32.

¹⁵² UNEP, 'Soil Pollution a Risk to Our Health and Food Security', 12 April 2020.

¹⁵³ Berthet et al., '<u>Assessing the Social and Environmental Impacts of Critical Mineral Supply Chains for</u> the Energy Transition in Europe'.

¹⁵⁴ UN ESCAP, 'Implications of the Energy Transition on Sustainable Critical Minerals Development in Asia and the Pacific', 36.

¹⁵⁵ Papa Daouda Diene et al., <u>'Triple Win: How Mining Can Benefit Africa's Citizens, Their Environment</u> <u>and the Energy Transition</u>' (Natural Resource Governance Institute, 2 November 2022).

¹⁵⁶ Magali Dauvin and David Guerreiro, '<u>The Paradox of Plenty: A Meta-Analysis</u>', World Development 94 (June 2017): 212–31.

¹⁵⁷ Antonio M. A. Pedro, '<u>The Country Mining Vision: Towards a New Deal</u>', Mineral Economics 29, no. 1 (1 April 2016): 15–22.

¹⁵⁸ 'Local Content Strengthening the Local Economy and Workforce' (Natural Resource Governance Institute, March 2015), 1, <u>https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/nrgi_Local-Content.pdf</u>.

¹⁵⁹ Diene et al., 'Triple Win', 21.

¹⁶⁰ Olle Östensson, 'Local Content, Supply Chains, and Shared Infrastructure', in Extractive Industries: The Management of Resources as a Driver of Sustainable Development, ed. Tony Addison and Alan Roe (Oxford University Press, 2018), 0, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198817369.003.0024</u>.

¹⁶¹ UNIDO, 'UNIDO Mining & Utilities Statistics Database at the 2- and 3-Digit Level of ISIC Revision 4' (stat.unido.org, 2023), <u>https://stat.unido.org/database/MINSTAT%202023,%20ISIC%20Revision%204</u>.

¹⁶² 'Mining Support Activities Market Size, Growth, Trends, Outlook Report 2033', The Business Research Company, accessed 14 February 2024,

https://www.thebusinessresearchcompany.com/report/mining-support-activities-global-market-report.

¹⁶³ Author's analysis of United Nations, 'UN Comtrade Database' (comtrade.un.org), accessed 14 February 2024,

<u>comtradeplus.un.org/TradeFlow?Frequency=A&Flows=X&CommodityCodes=TOTAL&Partners=0&Reporters=all&period=2022&AggregateBy=none&BreakdownMode=plus</u>. Accessed via World Bank World Integrated Trade Solution. We use the list of products considered to be mining equipment from '17. Mining Equipment Exports' (European Commission Joint Research Centre, n.d.), https://rmis.jrc.ec.europa.eu/uploads/scoreboard2021/indicators/methodology/ind17_methnotes.pdf.

¹⁶⁴ In fact, most of the products that Ghanaian suppliers provide to the mining sector sourced from imports. i.e. most of the value goes out of the country). Nevertheless there are some Ghanaian mining suppliers companies that have been able to expand their operations even to countries in West Africa. Charles G. Ofori, personal communication, 26 March 2024.

¹⁶⁵ Diene et al., 'Triple Win'.

¹⁶⁶ Djeynaba G. Ba and Jeffrey B. Jacquet, 'Local Content Policies in West Africa's Mining Sector: Assessment and Roadmap to Success', The Extractive Industries and Society 9 (11 March 2022): 101030, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2021.101030.

¹⁶⁷ Antonio Andreoni, Keun Lee, and Sofia Torreggiani, 'Global Value Chains, "In-Out-In" Industrialization, and the Global Patterns of Sectoral Value Addition', in Structural Transformation in South Africa: The Challenges of Inclusive Industrial Development in a Middle-Income Country, ed. Antonio Andreoni et al. (Oxford University Press, 2021), 0, https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780192894311.003.0013.

¹⁶⁸ ITC Trade and Market Intelligence Section, 'Export Potential', Export Potential Map Spot Export Opportunities for Trade Development, accessed 8 March 2024, https://exportpotential.intracen.org/en/products/gapchart?fromMarker=re&exporter=1&toMarker=w&market=w&whatMarker=k.

¹⁶⁹ Amir Lebdioui and Pavel Bilek, 'Do Forward Linkages Reduce or Worsen Dependency in the Extractive Sector?' (Natural Resource Governance Institute, March 2021), <u>https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/documents/do-forward-linkages-reduce-or-worsen-dependency-in-the-extractive-sector.pdf</u>.

¹⁷⁰ David Manley and Nazgul Kulova, 'Should the Government of the Kyrgyz Republic Impose a Tax on Gold Ores and Concentrates?' (Natural Resource Governance Institute, June 2018), <u>https://resourcegovernance.org/sites/default/files/documents/kyrgyz-republic-tax-on-cold-ores-and-contentrates.pdf</u>.

¹⁷¹ Author's estimates based on Bauer and Davis; William Davis.;'Open Data', EITI, accessed 24 June 2024, <u>https://eiti.org/open-data</u>; World Bank staff, 'Coal Rents (% of GDP)' (World Bank Group | Data, n.d.), <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.COAL.RT.ZS?skipRedirection=true&view=map;</u> World Bank staff, 'Mineral Rents (% of GDP)' (World Bank Group | Data, n.d.),

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MINR.RT.ZS; and 'GDP (Current US\$)' (World Bank Group | Data, n.d.), <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD</u>'; Ministry of Finance and National Planning, 'Annual Economic Report 2023' (Ministry of Finance and National Planning, 2023), 45. Estimates are based on multiplying the value of reserves by the ratio of fiscal revenues from ining collected in the most recent year for which data was available.

¹⁷² Author's estimates based on sources indicated in last footnote and United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division, 'World Population Prospects 2022, Online Edition', 2022, <u>https://population.un.org/wpp/Download/Standard/MostUsed/;</u> The author divided estimates of government revenues by the UN's population projection for 2037 (half-way to 2050, which is the date by which most of the boom in transition minerals is expected to have finished. See Diene et al., 'Triple Win'.

¹⁷³ BMZ and Econias, 'Economic Implications of the Energy Transition on Government Revenue in Resource-Rich Countries' (GIZ, 2023), <u>https://rue.bmz.de/resource/blob/187938/gfg-esp.pdf</u>.

¹⁷⁴ Author's analysis based on Economic Commission for Africa, African Development Bank Group, and African Union Commission, African Statistical Yearbook 2021 = Annuaire Statistique Pour l'Afrique 2021, African Statistical Yearbook (Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: Economic Commission for Africa, 2021), 65, 77, https://www.afdb.org/en/documents/african-statistical-yearbook-2021.

¹⁷⁵ Rosemary S. Taylor, 'The Fiscal Effects of Natural Resource Dependency in Sub-Saharan Africa', Natural Resources Forum n/a, no. n/a (13 January 2024): 1–23, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1477-8947.12400</u>.

¹⁷⁶ 'Minerals Security Partnership - United States Department of State'; E.D. Wala Chabala, 'Lobito Corridor – A Reality Check', Short Analysis (APRI Africa Policy Research Institute, 2 February 2024).

¹⁷⁷ Östensson, 'Promoting Downstream Processing'...

¹⁷⁸ The EU gives duty-free, quota-free access to their markets for African countries, while the United States currently provides access for several processed transition metals under the Africa Growth and Opportunity Act - 'Preferential Market Access for Goods', United Nations | LDC Portal - International Support Measures for Least Developed Countries, accessed 20 June 2024 ; Zainab Usman and Alexander Csanadi, 'How the AGOA Reauthorization Process Could Help Diversify U.S. Critical Mineral Supplies' (Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 30 April 2024).

¹⁷⁹ Zainab Usman and Alexander Csanadi, '<u>How the AGOA Reauthorization Process Could Help Diversify</u> <u>U.S. Critical Mineral Supplies</u>' (Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 30 April 2024).

¹⁸⁰ <u>The EU's critical minerals crusade</u>, SOMO, 2024; <u>WTO panel rules against Indonesia's export limitations on raw materials</u>, European Commission, 2022; <u>Indonesia defends nickel appeal amid WTO's appellate body crisis</u>, Jakarta Globe, 2023.

¹⁸¹ Ryosuke Yokoi, Takuma Watari, and Masaharu Motoshita, 'Future Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Metal Production: Gaps and Opportunities towards Climate Goals', Energy & Environmental Science 15, no. 1 (19 January 2022): 146–57, <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/D1EE02165F</u>.

¹⁸² The Assessing Regional Integration in Africa series of reports (specifically editions VII, VIII and IX) discusses how African countries can balance technology transfer and intellectual in service of development. See David Luke et al., 'Assessing Regional Integration in Africa VII: Innovation, Competitiveness and Regional Integration' (United Nations Economic Commission for Africa, African Union Commission and African Development Bank, 2016), <u>https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/books/9789210579032</u>; David Luke, Jamie Macleod, and William Davis, 'Assessing

Regional Integration in Africa VIII: Bringing the Continental Free Trade Area About' (Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: United Nations Economic Commission for Africa, African Union and African Development Bank, 2017), 145–53, <u>https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/books/9789213615591</u>; David Luke et al., 'Assessing Regional Integration in Africa IX: Next Steps for the African Continental Free Trade Area' (Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: United Nations Economic Commission for Africa, African Union Commission, African Development Bank and United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, 6 January 2021), 103–31, <u>https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/books/9789210042994/read</u>.

¹⁸³ Fern, 'A Partnership of Equals? How to Strengthen the EU's Critical Raw Materials Strategic Partnerships' (Fern, November 2023), <u>https://www.somo.nl/download/45643/?tmstv=1719517746</u>.

¹⁸⁴ These include, for example, copper, lead, nickel and zinc. Yokoi, Watari, and Motoshita, 'Future Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Metal Production'.

¹⁸⁵ ITC Trade and Market Intelligence Section, 'Export Potential', Export Potential Map Spot Export Opportunities for Trade Development, accessed 5 January 2024, <u>https://exportpotential.intracen.org/en/products/gap-</u> <u>chart?fromMarker=re&exporter=1&toMarker=w&market=w&whatMarker=k</u>.

¹⁸⁶ Yvan Decreux et al., 'Export Potential and Diversification Assessments' (International Trade Centre), accessed 13 February 2024, <u>https://umbraco.exportpotential.intracen.org/media/cklh2pi5/epa-methodology_230627.pdf</u>.

¹⁸⁷ Decreux et al., 'Export Potential and Diversification Assessments'.

¹⁸⁸ Decreux et al..

¹⁸⁹ 'World Mineral Statistics Data' (BGS MineralsUK Centre for sustainable mineral development), accessed 11 January 2024, https://www.2.bga.ac.uk/mineralsuk/atatistics/www.sfa2mathad-accesbW/MS

https://www2.bgs.ac.uk/mineralsuk/statistics/wms.cfc?method=searchWMS.

¹⁹⁰ Bruno Casella et al., 'Improving the Analysis of Global Value Chains: The UNCTAD-Eora Database', TRANSNATIONAL CORPORATIONS 26, no. 3 (2019). We use the Eora dataset because, to our knowledge, it is the most up-to-date dataset on international trade in value added that covers African countries. The OECD Trade in Value Added Dataset, for example, is updated to 2020, while Eora includes estimated data up to 2022.

¹⁹¹ This is based on the Eora sectoral classification, which has only 26 sectors for the vast majority of African countries.

¹⁹² World Bank, 'Labor Content of Export Database' (<u>https://wits.worldbank.org/analyticaldata/analyticaldata.aspx</u>, 2016), <u>https://wits.worldbank.org/analyticaldata/lacex/Country/GBR/Year/2011/Summary</u>.

¹⁹³ UNIDO, 'UNIDO Mining & Utilities Statistics Database at the 2- and 3-Digit Level of ISIC Revision 4' (stat.unido.org, 2023), <u>https://stat.unido.org/database/MINSTAT%202023,%20ISIC%20Revision%204</u>.

¹⁹⁴ UNIDO, 'INDSTAT 4 2023, ISIC Revision 3' (UNIDO Statistics Data Portal), accessed 26 January 2024, <u>https://stat.unido.org/database/INDSTAT%204%202023,%20ISIC%20Revision%203</u>



Minerals Africa



Email: info@pwyp.org

9 @PWYPtweets

f www.facebook.com/PublishWhatYouPay

www.pwyp.org

Publish What You Pay is a registered charity (Registered Charity Number 1170959) and a registered company in England and Wales (No. 9533183).